Cereal Non-Starch Polysaccharides in Pig Diets

Influence on Digestion Site, Gut Environment and Microbial Populations

> Ann Högberg Department of Animal Nutrition and Management Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2003

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Agraria 413

ISSN 1401-6249 ISBN 91-576-6437-4 © 2003 Ann Högberg, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2003

Abstract

Högberg, A. 2003. *Cereal non-starch polysaccharides in pig diets. Influence on digestion site, gut environment and microbial populations.* Doctoral thesis. ISSN 1401-6249, ISBN 91-576-6437-4

This thesis is based on three different studies comprising the weaning and the growing period, aiming at monitoring the influence of cereal non-starch polysaccharides (NSP) and dietary enzyme supplementation on gastro-intestinal processes in pigs. The diets were based on cereals and cereal by-products, and composed to contain different amounts of total as well as soluble NSP. Results from these studies have shown that with increased NSP content, the reduction in digestibility of organic matter (OM) was twice as high in the small intestine than in the total tract, both in newly weaned piglets and growing pigs. An increased proportion of insoluble NSP decreased the digestibility of OM and fibre components in the small intestine of the newly weaned piglets and in the total tract of growing pigs. The gut environment, as described by content and proportions of organic acids (OA) and pH, as well as total microbial populations and coliform diversity, was altered by NSP content and solubility, whereas enzyme supplementation influenced the distribution of OA in the small intestine. PVTC-cannulation did not influence the coliform flora, and results obtained from PVTC-cannulated pigs were concluded to reflect true intestinal conditions. In conclusion, these results indicate that the dietary content of total and soluble NSP influence gastro-intestinal processes such as digestion site, gut environment and microbial populations in different ways in newly weaned piglets and in growing pigs. Therefore, NSP constitute an important tool with possibilities to influence gut health in pigs, and may therefore offer prospects to optimise the feed for pigs of different age.

Keywords: weaning, digestibility, organic acids, enzymes, PVTC cannula, gastro-intestinal tract, biochemical fingerprinting, coliform diversity, T-RFLP

Author's address: Ann Högberg, Department of Animal Nutrition and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Box 7024, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden.

To my parents

Contents

Background	9
Introduction	9
Pig production	9
Intestinal diseases	10
Weaning	10
Pig feeds	11
Carbohydrates	11
Sugars	11
Non-sugars	12
Non-starch polysaccharides	13
Dietary fibre	14
Cereal carbohydrate composition	14
Feed enzymes	15
Digestion	15
Digestive physiology in the pig	15
Digestion of carbohydrates	17
Microbes in the gastro-intestinal tract	20
Piglets	20
Adult pigs	20
Interactions with dietary carbohydrates	22
Techniques for digesta sampling	22
Analytical methods for determination of dietary fibre	23
Microbiological methods	24
Aims of the thesis	25
Materials and methods	25
Animals and housing	25
Diets	26
Experimental designs and sample collections	26
Analyses	27
Chemical analyses	27
Terminal restriction fraction length polymorphism	27
Biochemical fingerprinting	27
Results	27
Cereal chemical composition	27
Feed intake and daily weight gain	28
Digestibility of nutrient components	28

Digestibility of fibre Gut environment	29 31
Microbial populations	31
Discussion	32
Cereal composition	32
Dietary composition, digestibility and gut health	32
Gut environment	34
Microbial populations	35
Possible influence of NSP on microbial populations	36
Conclusions	38
Sammanfattning	39
References	40
Acknowledgements	48

List of original papers

Papers I-V

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I Högberg, A., Lindberg, J. E. & Wallgren P. 2001. Influence of ileo-caecal cannulation and oxytetracycline on ileo-caecal and rectal coliform populations in pigs. *Acta veterinaria scandinavica* 42, 435-440.
- II Högberg, A. & Lindberg, J. E. 2003. Influence of cereal non-starch polysaccharides on digestion site and gut environment in growing pigs. *Livestock production science. In press.*
- III Högberg, A., Lindberg, J. E., Leser, T. & Wallgren, P. 2003. Influence of cereal non-starch polysaccharides on gut microbial populations in growing pigs. (Submitted)
- **IV** Högberg, A. & Lindberg, J. E. 2003. Influence of enzyme supplementation in cereal based diets on digestion site and gut environment in weaned piglets. *(Submitted)*
- V Högberg, A. & Lindberg, J. E. 2003. Influence of cereal non-starch polysaccharides on digestion site and gut environment in piglets around weaning. *(Submitted)*

Papers I and II are reproduced with the kind permission of the journals concerned.

List of abbreviations

PWD	Post-weaning diarrhoea
SD	Swine dysentery
TSE	Transmissible spongiform encephalitis
RS	Resistant starch
ß-glucans	Mixed-linked $(1\rightarrow 3), (1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucans
NSP	Non-starch polysaccharides
DF	Dietary fibre
SCFA	Short chain fatty acids
DM	Dry matter
OM	Organic matter
PVTC cannula	Post valve T-caecum cannula
NFE	Nitrogen free extractives
NDF	Neutral detergent fibre
ADF	Acid detergent fibre
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemists
T-RFLP	Terminal restriction fraction length polymorphism
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridisation
BW	Body weight
OA	Organic acids
СР	Crude protein
TRF	Terminal restriction fragment
BPT	Biochemical phenotype

Background

Carbohydrates, fat and protein are the energy yielding nutrients in animal feed. In the average diet for farm animals, carbohydrates are included at levels of 70-80%. Pig diets are mainly based on cereals, and they contain the main part of the energy providing nutrients that are essential for pigs. The nutritive value differs between the cereals due to their chemical composition. There are differences in total content of sugars, starch, β -glucans, non-starch polysaccharides and dietary fibre, as well as in the ratio of soluble and insoluble fibre fractions. Also the physicochemical properties such as viscosity, and the capacity to bind water and ions, vary between different cereals. Consequently, different cereal properties affect digestion and fermentation as well as microbial populations in the gastro-intestinal tract in various ways.

Gastro-intestinal disturbances comprise a major problem for the modern pig production, and especially newly born and recently weaned pigs are affected. The aetiology of these gastro-intestinal disturbances may vary. Apart from infectious causes, the feed may also be a contributing factor. With suitable dietary composition, cereals may function as a prebiotic tool in promoting a beneficial gut environment and thereby preventing gastro-intestinal disorders from the weaning period and onwards.

Introduction

Pig production

Since 1986, it is forbidden to routinely include feed additives such as antimicrobial growth promoters in the feed in Sweden (Wegener et al., 1999). Also the use of chemo therapeutic substances like ZnO has been restricted since 1998 (Odensvik, Robertsson & Wallgren, 1999). The Swedish animal welfare law prohibits weaning before four weeks, and weaning is usually performed at five weeks of age. Growing pigs in piglet producing herds are mainly reared in one of two different systems. A few herds apply continuous production systems, where the sows farrow continuously and as a result pigs of different ages share rearing facilities. A more common practice is the "all in - all out" system. In this system farrowing is synchronised at certain intervals, leaving time for cleaning of the pens and farrowing units between farrowings. At weaning, the piglets are either moved to a growing unit or remain in the pen of birth. The weaned piglets are sold at approximately 25 kg to other farms specialised in rearing slaughter pigs or are kept at the farm until slaughter. The specialised slaughter pig producers purchase pigs in batches and raise them to mature slaughter weight in an "all in – all out" system.

Traditionally, each farm keeps their own breeding stock, purchased from breeding herds. Lately, the possibility of obtaining gestating sows from a sow pool

has evolved. The sows arrive at the satellite herds three weeks before farrowing, and then return to the central sow pool at weaning, where they remain during the dry period.

Intestinal diseases

Pigs frequently suffer from gastrointestinal disturbances. These disturbances are by nature of multifactorial origin, but are generally associated with microorganisms. Common factors that may contribute to the development of intestinal diseases include stressful situations in combination with feed composition or feed structure that causes gastric ulcers, and create conditions that may lead to bacterial infections.

Post-weaning diarrhoea (PWD) is the most common intestinal disorder in pigs during the post-weaning period. This disease is associated with the proliferation of enterotoxigenic strains of *E. coli* in the small intestine (Melin *et al.*, 2000), that may result in severe secretory diarrhoea (Hampson, Pluske & Pethick, 2001). PWD leads to discomfort, growth depression and even loss of piglets, ending up with animal welfare problems as well as economic losses for the farmer. As PWD is a multifactorial disorder (Melin *et al.*, 2000), the diet also influences this disease. Increased dietary levels of protein have been shown to induce, and fibre to reduce, the incidence of PWD (Bertschinger *et al.*, 1978/1979; Prohászka & Baron, 1980; Bolduan *et al.*, 1988), and the presence of soluble NSP in the diet may influence development of PWD (McDonald *et al.*, 1999; Pluske *et al.*, 2001). Also the structure of the feed is of importance, since it has been shown that pigs fed a coarsely ground diet (Brunsgaard, 1998).

Swine dysentery (SD) is a mucohaemorrhagic disease that affects the caecum and colon of growing pigs. The disease is caused by an anaerobic spirochaete, *Brachyspira hyodysenteriae*, which colonises the mucus layer and crypts of the large intestine. It can lead to major growth depression and variable losses of pigs, resulting in problems for the farmer similar to those with PWD. Also SD is enhanced by the presence of other species of anaerobic bacteria (Meyer, Simon & Byerly, 1975; Whipp *et al.*, 1979). SD can be reduced with diets that decrease microbial fermentation in the large intestine (Siba, Pethick & Hampson, 1996), and diets low in soluble NSP and resistant starch (Pluske *et al.*, 1998).

Weaning

Weaning is a critical period in the life of a piglet. Due to demands for a high productivity domestic pigs are weaned at a significantly younger age than freeliving pigs, which are gradually weaned in a process that is terminated at an age of around 16 weeks (Jensen, 1988). The main events in connection with the weaning of domesticated piglets are the sudden removal of the sow in combination with an abrupt dietary change from milk to cereals. This occurs at a time when the piglet's own immune system is not fully developed (Bailey *et al.*, 2001; Stokes, Bailey & Haverson, 2001) and the immunoglobulines provided by the colostrum have decreased to low levels (Kelly & King, 2001). Further, the gastro-intestinal tract is still under development and is far from able to digest solid feed such as cereals effectively. Together, these facts form the background to why piglets often are affected by PWD. Also the housing system and the immediate environment, such as hygienic conditions and pathogen load, is of importance (Young *et al.*, 1959; Clark *et al.*, 1991; Wallgren *et al.*, 1993).

The weaning procedure itself causes physical changes in the gastro-intestinal tract. A decrease in feed intake is common immediately after weaning, and may contribute to intestinal inflammation (McCracken *et al.*, 1999). Further, increased crypt depth and decreased villus height in the small intestine are often observed (Hampson, 1986a-b; Pluske, Hampson & Williams, 1997). This leads to a reduced digestive and absorptive capacity, thereby increasing the risk for development of diarrhoea (Hampson & Kidder, 1986).

There are also age related changes in the intestinal physiology. The length of the small intestine increases more than the length of the large intestine during the first 35 days after birth. Thereafter, the conditions are reversed, resulting in a more rapid growth of the large intestine (McCance, 1974). This switch in intestinal growth rate coincides with the weaning period, and it is possible that the dietary change from the highly digestible sow milk to the cereal based feed is responsible for these alterations (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001).

Pig feeds

The majority of feed ingredients used in diets for pigs are of plant origin, and carbohydrates are the major constituents of plant tissues. Thus, carbohydrates constitute the quantitatively most important energy source for pigs (Church & Pond, 1982). Most pig diets are based on cereals, since their energy and nutrient content profile makes them well suited to create the concentrated diets necessary to sustain a high production level. Sometimes by-products from the human food industry are used. Soybean meal is the most common protein source (Seerley, 1991). Fishmeal can also be used, but the content of unsaturated fatty acids restricts the inclusion in diets for commercial production of slaughter pigs. Recently, also problems concerning transmissible spongiform encephalitis (TSE) have reduced the possibilities to use fishmeal, since it is impossible to distinguish bone remnants from mammals and fish. Synthetic amino acids are available to improve the amino acid content of the feed. Minerals and vitamins are commonly added to the feed via a premix.

Carbohydrates

The general formula for carbohydrates is $(CH_2O)_n$, and they can be divided into two main groups, sugars and non-sugars. Sugars contain monosaccharides, disaccharides and oligosaccharides, while non-sugars consist of polysaccharides with more than ten monasaccharide units (McDonald *et al.*, 1995a).

Sugars

Monosaccharides are the simplest sugars. They can be further divided into subgroups depending on the number of carbon atoms present in the molecule (trioses, tetroses, pentoses, hexoses and heptoses). There are two isomeric forms of the monosaccharide molecule, D and L. The D-isomer is most abundant in nature. Further, the monosaccharides can have different shapes, which determine how dense the molecules can be packed in polysaccharides (McDonald *et al.*, 1995a). Arabinose, xylose, glucose, fructose and galactose are examples of monosaccharides (Church & Pond, 1982).

Disaccharides consist of two monosaccharide molecules linked together by the release of one water molecule. Lactose from sow's' milk, sucrose from plant products and maltose are examples of disaccharides (Church & Pond, 1982).

Oligosaccharides consist of two to ten monosaccharides linked together by the release of one water molecule at each linkage (McDonald *et al.*, 1995a). Oligosaccharides may contain similar or different monosaccharides, different linkage structures and be linear or branched. Most of them are soluble in water and physiological fluids (Mul & Perry, 1994). Raffinose, kestose and stachyose are examples of oligosaccharides (McDonald *et al.*, 1995a).

Non-sugars

Polysaccharides are polymers with more than ten monosaccharides. Homopolysaccharides contain the same monosaccharide, as in starch, β -glucans and cellulose, whereas heteropolysaccharides consist of different monosaccharides, as in pectin and hemicellulose (McDonald *et al.*, 1995a).

Homopolysaccharides

Starch is chemically composed of two macromolecules, amylose and amylopectin. Amylose is a long, linear glucose polymer consisting of 1.4-linked- α -Danhydroglucose units in a helical conformation. Amylose has one reducing and one non-reducing end-chain group (Gallant et al., 1992). Amylopectin is a branched glucose polymer where a chain of α -D-(1-4)-glucopyranose units is linked to glucose molecules by an α -D-(1-6)-glycosidic linkage. This clustered macromolecule has one reducing, but several thousands to millions of nonreducing, end-chain groups (Gallant et al., 1992). There are three different crystalline organisations in starch, resulting in three varying dimensional structures. The A pattern is found in cereal starches, the B pattern is found in potato, tubers and some amylose-rich starch granules, and the C pattern is found in beans, roots and legumes (Gallant et al., 1992; Wiseman, Pickard & Zarkadas, 2001). The crystals forming the A pattern are tightly packed, and contain less water than B crystals (Wiseman, Pickard & Zarkadas, 2001). Conversion of A starch into B starch is only possible after a total recrystallisation of the structure, whereas B starch can be irreversibly altered to A starch at high temperature and low humidity. Some consider the C starch to have a crystalline organisation of its own like the A and B starch, whereas others believe that the C starch is a mixed organisation of granules with A and B starch, or that each granule contains both A and B starch (Gallant et al., 1992).

Resistant starch (RS) refers to starch that is resistant to digestion by pancreatic amylases and reaches the large intestine undegraded (Conway, 1994). It is generally considered as a source of dietary fibre, having three major categories RS1, RS2 and RS3. RS1 is a physically trapped starch, found in whole or partly ground grains, cereals, seeds and legumes, that prevents or delays access of digestive enzymes to the starch. RS2 refers to RS granules or ungelatinised starch granules that are highly resistant to digestion by α -amylase. RS3 consists of retrograded starch polymers (mainly amylose) which are produced when starch is cooled after gelatinisation or heating (Muir *et al.*, 1993). Through cooking, the starch polymers can be converted from a crystalline structure to a gel structure. The gelatinisation makes the starch more sensitive to enzymatic breakdown, and thereby the amount of RS reaching the large intestine can be reduced (Englyst & Cummings, 1987).

Mixed-linked $(1\rightarrow 3), (1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucans (β -glucans) are constituents of the endosperm cell wall. They consist of glucopyranosyl units. The $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -linkages cause irregularities that make the molecule more soluble than cellulose (Theander, Westerlund & Åman, 1993).

Cellulose is a linear, unbranched polymer consisting of β -D-(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked glucopyranosyl units (Theander, Westerlund & Åman, 1993), which are rotated 180°, creating a flat ribbon-like structure (Gallant *et al.*, 1992). The cellulose occurs in a crystalline form (Theander *et al.*, 1989), where the molecules attach to each other with hydrogen bonds, and form densely packed microfibrils which in turn adhere to form macrofibrils. This results in molecules that are almost completely resistant to hydration and swelling (Bjergegaard, Sørensen & Sørensen, 1997).

Heteropolysaccharides

Pectins can be defined as those polysaccharides that are solubilised from the cell wall by aqueous solutions of chelating agents such as ethylenediaminetetra-acetate or ammonium oxalate (Selvendran, 1984). They are partially methylesterified rhamnogalacturonans, in which rhamnose units are inserted. Also it occurs attached short side chains of arabinose and galactose (Theander *et al.*, 1989). Pectins are a heterogeneous group of glycans and consist of a large amount of uronic acids and their derivatives. Some of the quantitatively important pectins are arabinans, galactans, arabinogalactans, galactouronans, homogalactouronans and rhamnogalactouronans I and II (Bjergegaard, Sørensen & Sørensen, 1997).

Hemicelluloses also constitute a heterogeneous group of glycans. Their separation from pectins is based on solubility in aqueous systems, but there is no sharp distinction between these groups. Some of the quantitatively important hemicelluloses are xylans, xyloglucans, galactomannans, glucomannans, mannans, galactoglycomannans and arabinogalactan II (Bjergegaard, Sørensen & Sørensen, 1997).

Non-starch polysaccharides

Non-starch polysaccharides (NSP) contain β -glucans, cellulose, pectin and hemicellulose (Souffrant, 2001). NSP consist of both soluble and insoluble fractions (Bach Knudsen, 1997) as defined by the extraction procedure used in the chemical analyses.

Dietary fibre

Dietary fibre (DF) consist of NSP and lignin, which are the principal compounds of cell walls (Bach Knudsen, 2001). The main constituents are cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. Lignin is not a carbohydrate. It can be described as a group of polymerised aromatic alcohols formed in the cell wall structures from ester-bound phenolic carboxylic acids (Bjergegaard, Sørensen & Sørensen, 1997). Lignin consists of very branched networks tightly linked to the cell wall polysaccharides (Iiyama, Lam & Stone, 1994), and is therefore included in dietary fibre.

Cereal carbohydrate composition

Cereal grains have an endosperm core with a thin wall enclosing the embryo and starch. The endosperm is surrounded by the aleurone layer, consisting of cells with thick cell walls. The outermost protective grain shell is the pericarp, consisting of several cell layers (Bedford, 1995). Arabinoxylans and ß-glucans are located in the endosperm, whereas cellulose is included in the pericarp and hull (Bedford, 1993).

The chemical composition of cereals and cereal by-products is variable, as shown in Table 1. A large amount of the cell wall components in barley and oats consist of β -glucans, whereas arabinoxylans are common in wheat, rye and triticale (Bach Knudsen, 1997).

			Oat feed	Oat hull	Rye		Wheat
	Barley	Oats	meal	meal	bran	Wheat	bran
Starch	587	468	623	213	87	651	222
Total B-glucan	42	28	42	14	45	8	24
Total neutral sugars	138	140	76	272	374	94	287
Arabinose	28	18	10	28	78	29	90
Xylose	56	80	16	212	213	47	148
Glucose	47	33	43	20	66	11	35
Uronic acid	6	10	5	36	10	5	15
Klason lignin	35	66	19	148	68	19	75
Total NSP	186	232	89	505	422	119	374
Total dietary fibre	221	298	108	653	490	138	449

Table 1. Chemical composition (g/kg DM) of cereals and cereal by-products (Bach Knudsen, 1997)

The chemical composition of the cereals is of importance for the physicochemical properties. The major physico-chemical properties of dietary fibre are the cation exchange capacity, hydration properties, viscosity and compound absorptive properties (Bach Knudsen, 2001).

Feed enzymes

Cell wall components such as ß-glucans and arabinoxylans are common in cereals, and they are known to decrease the nutritional value of a diet through an increase of the viscosity in the gastrointestinal tract (Bedford, 1995). Degradation of such cell wall components by supplementation with specific feed enzymes may enhance the nutritional value of the diet for the pig (Partridge, 2001). Enzyme supplementation of chicken diets improves nutrient utilisation as well as growth performance (Pettersson, Graham & Åman, 1990; Guenter, 1993). However, in contrast to the data from chickens, enzyme supplementation of pig diets shows variable results. Probably these differences in the effect of feed enzymes between chickens and pigs depend on the species-related differences in anatomy, digestive capacity and bacterial activity (Dierick & Decuypere, 1994).

Also other factors influence the efficiency of enzyme supplementation. The most beneficial effect of feed enzymes is likely to be found in diets for newly weaned piglets (Thomke & Elwinger, 1998), since the pancreatic enzyme production may be limiting (Lindemann *et al.*, 1986). Thus, the age of the target pigs is of importance. The feed ingredients included determine the chemical composition of the diet (Bach Knudsen, 1997), and thereby which feed enzymes that are likely to be effective. There are several enzymes available for degrading cell wall components, for instance pentosanases, β -glucanases, α -galactosidases (Dierick & Decuypere, 1994), cellulases and xylanases (Bhat & Hazlewood, 2001), designed to target different substrates. There are also enzymes for the degradation of non-cellulosic dietary constituents, for instance α -amylase, oligosaccharidases and phytase (Campbell & Bedford, 1992). Also the quality of the enzymes, such as efficiency, tolerance to digestive processes and feed processing is of importance, as well as the application of specific enzymes or enzyme cocktails (Chesson, 1993).

Digestion

Digestive physiology in the pig

Digestion and absorption are the primary functions of the gastrointestinal tract. The digestive tract of the pig consists of mouth, pharynx, oesophagus, stomach, small intestine, caecum, colon and rectum (Argenzio, 1993a).

Mouth

In the mouth, chewing reduces the size of the feed particles and the feed is mixed with saliva (Argenzio, 1993b). Saliva consists of up to 99% of water and the remaining 1% contains mucin, inorganic salts and the enzymes α -amylase and lysozyme (McDonald *et al.*, 1995b).

Stomach

The pig stomach serves as a place for both storage and digestion. The epithelium in the stomach is divided into four areas with different types of mucosa; the oesophageal area, the cardiac area, the gastric gland region and the pyloric region. The oesophageal area is an enlargement of the oesophagus into the stomach, which is free from secretory glands (McDonald *et al.*, 1995b). In this area the salivary α -amylase is still active and there is a permanent microbial population of *Lactobacilli* and *Streptococci* (Jensen, 2001). In the cardiac area an alkaline, enzyme free, viscous mucus is secreted that protects the epithelia from acid attack. The gastric gland region secretes mucus and contains the hydrochloric acid and pepsinogen producing cells. The pyloric region contains glands that produce a protective mucous layer (McDonald *et al.*, 1995b). Also some pepsinogens are secreted from this region (Argenzio, 1993c).

Small intestine

The small intestine is divided into duodenum, jejunum and ileum, and the digesta is mixed with secretions from the duodenum, liver and pancreas. Alkaline secretions from Brunners glands are mixed with the digesta in the duodenum, and protect the intestinal wall from hydrochloric acid released from the stomach. This also creates an optimal pH for the released pancreatic enzymes to digest carbohydrates into different saccharides, fat into fatty acids and monoglycerides and protein into oligopeptides and amino acids. The liver secretes bile from the gall bladder into the duodenum. In the pig, there is a relatively continuous secretion of bile. It consists of water, electrolytes and organic compounds such as cholesterol and bile salts, and provides bile acids and neutralising buffer (Argenzio, 1993c).

The absorption of amino acids, saccharides, lipids, vitamins and minerals mainly takes place in the jejunum. The small intestine is supplied with villi, finger-like extensions that increase the absorption capacity. The passage rate in the jejunum is higher than in the ileum, where a greater number of segmental contractions delay the transit. Also the ileo-caecal junction decreases the passage rate. The bile salts are absorbed by active transport in the ileum and about 90% are recirculated (Argenzio, 1993c).

Large intestine

The large intestine has an important role in the absorption of nutrients, electrolytes and water from the digesta. Pigs have a short caecum and long colon compared with other monogastric omnivores. Sacculated areas and antiperistaltic movements decrease the passage rate. This is important in order to give sufficient time for absorption as well as microbial fermentation (Argenzio, 1993b). Water and small particles are retained in the proximal colon, while larger particles move on with a higher passage rate (McDonald *et al.*, 1995b).

Faeces excreted from the large intestine via the rectum consists of water, undigested feed residues, digestive secretions, epithelial cells from the gastrointestinal tract, inorganic salts, bacteria and products of microbial decomposition (McDonald *et al.*, 1995b).

Digestion of carbohydrates

Carbohydrates are digested both in the small and large intestine of pigs. The chemical composition determines whether the degradation is performed by endogenous enzymes or by microbes (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001).

Mouth and stomach

Salivary α -amylase initiates the enzymatic starch digestion in the stomach only to a limited extent, since the α -amylase activity in saliva is low and becomes inactivated by the acidic environment in the stomach (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001). Also a limited microbial fermentation of sugars and starches takes place in the stomach. This degradation results in the formation of short chain fatty acids (SCFA) and lactic acid, which are partly absorbed by the stomach wall. Both the enzymatic starch digestion and the fermentation of sugars and starches are located in the oesophageal area of the stomach. Substrates of fermentation in the stomach of suckling piglets or young early-weaned pigs are monosaccharides, disaccharides and degradation products of starch (Drochner, 1993).

Small intestine

The main site for starch digestion is the small intestine, where the digestion in the luminal phase is performed through hydrolysis of α -1,4-linkages by pancreatic α amylase. This results in 1,4-linked di- and trisaccharides such as maltose and maltotriose, and branched oligosachharides with α -1,6- and α -1,4-linkages, socalled α -dextrins. In the mucosal phase, specific saccharidases located in the brush border of the epithelial cells, degrade the products from digestion in the luminal phase further into monosaccharides (Argenzio, 1993d). According to (Gabert et al., 1995), arabinose, galactose, glucose and xylose are the most abundant monosaccharides in ileal digesta. The breakdown products absorbed are glucose, galactose and fructose. Glucose and galactose can be transported into the epithelial cell by active transport, whereas fructose enters the cell more slowly by help of a carrier mechanism (Argenzio, 1993d). The enzyme activities in the small intestine are specific for α -linked units and are inactive against the β -linked glucose polymers in dietary fibre (Chesson, 1987). However, there are fibre-degrading bacteria in the proximal gastro-intestinal tract, capable of disrupting these cell walls prior to the ileum. This disruption releases nutrients encapsulated within the cell walls (Graham et al., 1986), which thereby become available for digestion within the small intestine.

At the end of the small intestine, the cereal starch digestibility ranges from 83.7 to 100% (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001). The digestibility of B and C starch is lower compared with cereal starch (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001), as for instance in peas (Gdala *et al.*, 1997) and potato (Just, Jørgensen & Fernández, 1985). Also coarse particles reduce the starch digestibility in the small intestine (Brunsgaard, 1998). The amount of NSP digested in the small intestine varies from -10 to 62%, ß-glucans from 17 to 97%, arabinoxylans from -10 to 19% and cellulose from 21 to 50% (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001).

Large intestine

Digestion in the large intestine is either performed by the help of enzymes that have followed the digesta from the small intestine, or through microbial fermentation. Small amounts of monosaccharides and disaccharides pass the ileocaecal valve and are fermented completely by microbes. Also some starches, for instance from raw potatoes, pass only partially digested into the large intestine, where they serve as a substrate for microbial fermentation (Drochner, 1993). Also resistant starch is utilised as a substrate for fermentation by the enteric microflora of the large intestine (Conway, 1994).

The main sites for NSP degradation in the large intestine of both piglets and older pigs are the caecum and proximal colon (Gdala *et al.*, 1997). NSP are degraded to varying degree depending on the botanical origin of the fibre material (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986). The physiological action depends to a large extent on the physical and chemical properties of the individual NSP, and these can vary quite considerably between different polymers or different molecular weights of the same polymer. Some polysaccharides are immediately fermented and removed from the lumen in the colon, but others may be chemically modified by the bacteria, and thereby their physical properties are changed (Read & Eastwood, 1992).

The amount of cereal cellulose digested in the total tract varies from 2 to 84% depending on the source of NSP. Hemicellulose is generally better digested than cellulose, whereas lignified material decreases the digestibility (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001). Also pectic substances are digested to a larger extent than cellulose (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001), and the digestibility of isolated pectins in the large intestine of pigs is in the range of 80 to 90% (Drochner, 1993). B-glucans are completely digested in the total tract (Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a-b).

The amount of cereal NSP digested in the large intestine varies from 48 to 95% (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Chabeauti, Noblet & Carré, 1991; Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a-b; Longland, Carruthers & Low, 1994; Jørgensen, Zhao & Eggum, 1996; Gdala *et al.*, 1997). Inclusion of sugar beet pulp gives a digestibility of NSP from 69 to 92% (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Chabeauti, Noblet & Carré, 1991; Longland, Carruthers & Low, 1994; Noblet & Bach Knudsen, 1997; Wang *et al.*, 2002), whereas inclusion of wheat bran decreases the NSP digestibility to 30 to 59% (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Chabeauti, Noblet & Carré, 1991; Mathew *et al.*, 1996; Wang *et al.*, 2002).

The digestibility of cereal arabinose varies from 49 to 93%, whereas xylose digestibility varies from 24 to 94% (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Chabeauti, Noblet & Carré, 1991; Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a-b; Longland, Carruthers & Low, 1994; Jørgensen *et al.*, 1996; Gdala *et al.*, 1997). Inclusion of sugar beet pulp gives a digestibility of arabinose from 84 to 97%, and xylose from 17 to 64% (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Chabeauti, Noblet & Carré, 1991; Noblet & Bach Knudsen, 1997; Wang *et al.*, 2002), whereas inclusion of wheat bran gives a digestibility of arabinose from 31 to 53%, and

xylose from 33 to 70% (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Chabeauti, Noblet & Carré, 1991; Noblet & Bach Knudsen, 1997; Wang *et al.*, 2002).

The main end products of the microbial fermentation are lactic acid, SCFA and various gases (hydrogen, carbon dioxide, methane) (Bach Knudsen *et al.*, 1991). The SCFA are absorbed in the large intestine and contribute to the energy supply of the pig (Fonty & Gouet, 1989).

Digestion in relation to dietary fibre content

Dietary fibres are defined as feed constituents resistant to degradation catalysed by enzymes, especially hydrolases produced in mammalian cells (van Soest, 1988; Bjergegaard, Sørensen & Sørensen, 1997).

Inclusion of dietary fibre in the diet decreases the digestibility of dry matter (DM), organic matter (OM) and energy in the distal small intestine and in the total tract (Graham, Hesselman & Åman, 1986; Bach Knudsen & Hansen, 1991; Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993b; Jørgensen, Zhao & Eggum, 1996; Andersson & Lindberg, 1997). The effect of dietary fibre on protein digestibility is more variable, and depends on the type of fibre included. Dierick *et al.* (1983) reported a lower decrease in the ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids with cellulose compared with pectin and sugar beet pulp. Further, the cell walls may enclose intracellular protein and fat, and thereby decrease the digestibility of these nutrients (Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a).

The energy provided from organic acids increases with dietary fibre content. This leads to the pig suffering an energy loss, since the relative value of energy derived from the hindgut fermentation is only 0.73 of the energy yield from enzymatic digestion in the small intestine (Jørgensen, Zhao & Eggum, 1996).

Age-related differences in carbohydrate digestion

There are some age-related differences in the digestion between piglets and older pigs. Apart from the size differences of the gastro-intestinal tract, also the carbohydrase activity differs. Lactase activity is present at high levels in the mucosa of the newly born piglet, and reaches its maximum activity level when the piglet is one week old (Aumaitre & Corring, 1978). Thereafter, the lactase activity decreases with age (Manners & Stevens, 1972; Kidder & Manners, 1980). The pancreatic amylase activity is low at birth. When the piglet is three weeks old, the amylase activity is slightly higher than in the newly born piglet, and increases more rapidly from this age until the piglet is six weeks old (Corring, Aumaitre & Durand, 1978). Also the pancreatic juice secretions follow the same pattern and increase in connection with wearing (Pierzynowski *et al.*, 1988). Sucrase activity is not present until one week after birth (Aumaitre & Corring, 1978), and increases until maturity (Manners & Stevens, 1972). Maltase activity is low at birth, but increases until eight weeks of age (Aumaitre & Corring, 1978). Isomaltase activity increases with age, whereas the activity of maltase 2 and 3 and trehalase increase until the pig is 200 days old (Kidder & Manners, 1980).

Microbes in the gastrointestinal tract

The gastrointestinal tract of pigs contains a large and diverse microbial population. The bacteria are mainly obligate anaerobes and their numbers generally exceed 10 billion per gram of wet weight of colon contents. They may comprise as much as one-third of the contents in the large intestine (Allison, 1989).

Both external environmental conditions such as unfavourable temperature and humidity, and internal environmental conditions in the intestine, such as for example nutrient availability, pH, redox potential and microbial interactions, influence the structure and function of the microflora. Alterations in these conditions can manipulate the type of microbes that will establish in the gastrointestinal tract. If the resident populations are disturbed, transient microbes may establish in the digestive tract, and these transient microbes may include pathogens. Weaning serves as a good example of this phenomenon (Conway, 1994).

Piglets

The similarity between the microflora of sows and their offspring on day three after farrowing is high (Katouli *et al.*, 1997b). This suggests that sows are the initial source of the piglets' microflora, presumably via microbial populations from the vagina, milk, skin and faeces of the sow (Melin, 2001). When the piglets are seven days old, the similarity is lost and the piglets develop a new type of flora. The microflora is still similar among piglets within litter, but it is clearly different from that of the sow (Katouli *et al.*, 1995, 1997b). In connection with dietary changes, the fermentation capacity of the microflora decreases. Also relocation of pigs between pen units influences the composition of the intestinal microflora. Generally the metabolic capacity of the intestinal flora in pigs decreases as the animals grow older (Katouli *et al.*, 1997b). Bacteria colonising the gastro-intestinal tract of the newly born piglet include *Lactobacilli, E. coli, Streptococci* and *Clostridia* (Melin, 2001).

The weaning process represents a number of environmental and physiological alterations, experienced at a time when the immune system is not fully developed. In connection with weaning (Katouli *et al.*, 1995, 1999) and diarrhoea (Kühn *et al.*, 1985), a decreased diversity in the intestinal flora occurs when one or a few bacteria strains dominate the intestine. Therefore, piglets are more sensitive to colonisation by enteropathogenic *E. coli* at this time. However, weaning diarrhoea is a multifactorial disease, and has been shown to be *E. coli* associated rather than caused by *E. coli* (Melin *et al.*, 2000).

Adult pigs

In the healthy adult pig, the microflora is relatively stable under constant conditions. The gastrointestinal tract is densely colonised by a diverse population of aerobic, facultative anaerobic and strictly anaerobic species (Conway, 1994). Bacteria remain in the gut either by attachment to the intestinal epithelial cells, or by simply growing at a faster rate than the peristaltic movements are removing them (Ewing & Cole, 1994). The gastrointestinal microflora contributes to the

resistance to colonisation by pathogens through so-called competitive exclusion (Asplund *et al.*, 1996), and also contribute to the energy supply of the pig (Kass, van Soest & Pond, 1980) through fermentation of ingested nutrients otherwise insensitive to intestinal enzymatic digestion. There is a delicate balance between host factors, diet and microflora, and a disturbance of one factor influences all other factors in the ecosystem (Conway, 1994). As a consequence, a dietary change can cause alterations in the composition or function of the microbes in the digestive tract.

Mouth

The bacteria in the mouth probably originate from the tooth surfaces and the soft tissues as well as from the feed (Ewing & Cole, 1994). Various strains of *Streptococci* are commonly found in the mouth (Gibbons & van Houte, 1971).

Stomach

The acidic conditions in the stomach restrict the number of bacteria at this site, but yeasts are often present (Savage, 1989). The total number of bacteria present in the stomach is 10^7-10^9 viable bacteria per gram digesta (Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a; Jensen & Jørgensen, 1994). *Lactobacilli* and *Streptococci* constitute permanent microbial populations of the stomach (Jensen, 2001), and associate with the stratified squamous epithelium in the pars oesophagus (Tannock, 1990; Jensen, 1998). Other bacteria commonly found in the stomach are *E. coli, Clostridia, Eubacterium, Bifidobacterium, Staphylococcus, Actinomyces* and *Klebsiella* (Conway, 1994; Melin, 2001).

Small intestine

The total number of culturable bacteria present in the small intestine is 10^7 viable bacteria per gram digesta in the proximal small intestine, and increases to 10^8-10^9 viable bacteria per gram digesta in the distal small intestine (Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a; Jensen & Jørgensen, 1994). The intestinal environment is altered by secretions of bicarbonate buffer, bile and digestive enzymes. This, in combination with the high passage rate, especially in the proximal small intestine, affects the conditions for microbial proliferation at this site. The densities of bacteria increase towards the distal small intestine, presumably as an effect of slower passage rate and a greater amount of digesta (Zoric *et al.*, 2002). *Lactobacilli, Streptococci, Clostridia* and *Enterobacteria* are the most common species in the small intestine, but *E. coli* and *Bacteroides* are also present (Conway, 1994; Jensen, 2001).

Large intestine

The large intestine constitutes the major site of microbial proliferation. Here the passage rate is slowed down by sacculations and anti-peristaltic movements, creating an environment with beneficial pH, humidity and temperature for bacterial growth (Fonty & Gouet, 1989). The total number of bacteria present in the large intestine is 10^{10} - 10^{11} viable bacteria per gram digesta, belonging to more than 500 different species (Jensen, 2001). Bacteria such as *Bacteroides*, *Clostridia*, *Prevotella*, *Streptococci*, *Lactobacillus*, *Sellenomona*, *Mitsoukella*,

Megasphera, *Acidaminococci*, *Fusobacteria* and *Eubacteria* dominate the microflora at this site (Conway, 1994; Jensen, 2001).

Interactions with dietary carbohydrates

More than 80% of the fermented substrates derives from carbohydrates, and NSP are the main energy source for microbial fermentation in the large intestine (Bach Knudsen & Jensen, 1991; Bach Knudsen *et al.*, 1991). Due to the absence of plant cell-wall degrading enzymes in the pig, and the low density of micro-organisms in the anterior part of the small intestine, the dietary fibre is more or less intact on arrival to the hindgut. Bacteria are considered to be the major plant cell wall degrading agents, and the dietary fibre is degraded to a variable extent in the caecum and colon by a diversified microbial population (Fonty & Gouet, 1989).

Microbial growth is promoted by increased amounts of substrate. In a study where a low fibre and a high fibre diet were compared, digesta from the stomachs of the pigs receiving the high fibre diet contained significantly larger amounts of culturable bacteria than did digesta from the stomachs of the pigs receiving the low fibre diet (Jensen & Jørgensen, 1994). Further, there is a correlation between the microbial activity and the amount of digested carbohydrates in the large intestine (Bach Knudsen *et al.*, 1991). This implies that the diet composition, and especially the amount of dietary fibre in the diet, determines how much substrate reaches the large intestine, thereby influencing the microbial fermentation as well as the microbial activity at this site (Bach Knudsen & Jensen, 1991). Through modifying the diet the composition of the microflora can be altered and although bacteria numbers appear unchanged, the dominant strains or species of bacteria may vary (Conway, 1994).

Techniques for digesta sampling

Different techniques have been developed and used to obtain samples of gut content. One common but drastic method is the slaughter technique, where the animal is sacrificed after being fed the experimental diet for a certain time. This technique allows sampling along the entire gastro-intestinal tract and the possibility to analyse a number of response parameters (Moughan, 2003). However, apart from animal welfare aspects, sampling can only be done once per animal and there may not be a sufficient amount of digesta present in the gastro-intestinal tract at the time of slaughter. Also, this technique can only give momentary information about events occurring at the time of slaughter.

Another method to collect gastro-intestinal samples is to insert a cannula or a catheter into the intestinal section of interest. This technique allows continuous sampling of an animal during a certain time interval and also sampling on several occasions. However, the surgical insertion itself may influence the metabolic processes in the animal and change the conditions in the gastro-intestinal tract (Jacobson *et al.*, 2001). The most common cannulas are the simple T-cannula and the post valve T-caecum (PVTC) cannula. The T-cannula is often inserted in the distal part of the small intestine and the PVTC-cannula is inserted in the caecum, in close proximity to the ileo-caecal valve. When inserting a T-cannula, no part of the intestine is removed (Fuller, 1991). However, some problems concerning the

homogeneity of the digesta samples collected have been reported, especially when feeding high-fibre diets (Yin *et al.*, 2000b). When applying the PVTC-cannula, a part of the caecum is removed (van Leeuwen *et al.*, 1991). This might alter the intestinal conditions, but it has been demonstrated that this technique has no influence on digestibility (Lindberg, 1997; Jansman *et al.*, 2001) as well as animal health and gut function (Jacobson *et al.*, 2001). This cannula has a larger diameter compared with the T-cannula and it is known to function well when sampling all kinds of diets.

Analytical methods for determination of dietary fibre

Over the years, more sophisticated methods for determining dietary fibre have been developed. These methods quantify different parts of dietary fibre.

The crude fibre analysis is the oldest method. Dilute acid and alkali are used for the extraction, followed by drying and gravimetric determination. This method gives information on the cellulose and lignin content. However, this method only measures a small and variable fraction of the fibre components, due to the solubilisation of the structural polysaccharides and lignin (Bach Knudsen, 2001). The crude fibre analysis is a part of the Weende analysis, where the feed is analysed with respect to contents of crude protein, crude fibre, crude fat, ash and nitrogen free extractives (NFE) (Carlier, Cottyn & Aerts, 1976).

The detergent methods measure the fraction of the fibre that is insoluble in two different detergents (van Soest & Wine, 1967; van Soest, Robertson & Lewis, 1991). Neutral detergent fibre (NDF) measures the content of cellulose, lignin and hemicellulose after using neutral detergents, while acid detergent fibre (ADF) measures the content of cellulose and lignin after using acid detergents. Thereby the content of hemicellulose can be determined by calculation. According to Bach Knudsen (2001), there are indications about loss of water-soluble NSP and water-insoluble pectic substances in the NDF procedure, contamination of the NDF residue by starch and protein, and remaining hemicellulose in the ADF fraction, when applying this method for dietary fibre analysis.

The Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) procedures consist of enzymatic-gravimetric methods that measure dietary fibre after extraction of low-molecular weight sugars and lipids followed by enzymatic degradation of protein and starch. Finally the residue is weighed and corrected for ash and protein (Prosky *et al.*, 1988; Lee, Prosky & De Vries, 1992).

Enzymatic-chemical procedures, such as the Englyst (Englyst, Quigley & Hudson, 1994) and Uppsala (Theander *et al.*, 1994) procedures, measure the dietary fibre constituents after extraction of low-molecular weight sugars, enzymatic removal of starch, acid hydrolysis of DF polysaccharides and determination of their monosaccharide residues by gas-liquid chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography or colorimetry and estimation of uronic acids by colorimetry. These methods quantify the content of non-starch polysaccharides, cellulose, pectin, β -glucans, pentosans and xylans, as well as insoluble and soluble fractions.

Microbiological methods

Traditionally, culturing of bacteria has been the method applied to assess the microbial populations. The culturing can be both aerobic and anaerobic, depending on the bacteria of interest, and is followed by enumeration and isolation. Further, the culturing media used can be either non-selective or selective, by designing the media according to general or specific requirements for the bacteria of interest. Culturing is the method applied to give a complete phenotypic characterisation of bacteria. However, this method only gives information about the culturable bacteria, leaving the other microbial populations undiscovered (Amann, Ludwig & Shleiffer, 1995).

Biochemical fingerprinting is a computerised method for typing of bacteria. It is based on the quantitative measurements of the biochemical reactions of bacteria as a means of measuring the bacterial activity. Pre-prepared 96 well microtitre plates are used. They contain dehydrated reagents, e.g. specific carbohydrates, selected to be highly discriminative within the group of bacteria studied (Möllby, Kühn & Katouli, 1993). The system is based on interval measurements of the colour changes generated by an indicator due to bacterial utilisation of different sole carbon sources, and production or consumption of acids. This method yields fermentation patterns that differ between bacterial populations, and thereby changes in the bacterial composition can be monitored. Also, the method provides information about the ability of a microbial population to ferment different carbohydrates, the fermentation capacity (Katouli *et al.*, 1997a).

16S rRNA gene sequencing is used to classify and determine the evolutionary relationship between bacteria. The 16S rRNA gene is ubiquitous among bacteria and contains a combination of conserved and variable regions, allowing sequence alignment and detection of evolutionary relationships (Woese, 1987). A continuously expanding number of sequences are becoming accessible through web-based database compilations (Maidak *et al.*, 1996), for instance the Ribosomal Database Project II (http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/html/; 14-Aug-2003).

Terminal Restriction Fraction Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP) analysis is suitable to apply for comparing the composition of bacterial communities (Clement *et al.*, 1998). The gene commonly used for this purpose is 16S rRNA. These genes are fluorescently end-labelled and amplified by PCR (polymerase chain reaction), followed by digestion with restriction enzymes, endonucleases. Gel electrophoresis is used to separate the digested gene fragments. The fragments are then detected on an automated sequence analyser, and specific profiles are provided depending on the species composition in the sample (Leser *et al.*, 2000).

16S rRNA hybridisation is used to identify and quantify bacteria. This single cell hybridisation uses fluorescently labelled oligonucleotide probes to target the 16S rRNA in the protein matrix of the small ribosomal sub-unit (Amann, Ludwig & Shleiffer, 1995). The method is generally referred to as Fluorescence In Situ Hybridisation (FISH). Since rRNA is present in all bacteria and the databases on the 16S rRNA genome continue to progress (Maidak *et al.*, 1996), it is possible to increase the number of probes available for this methodology (Harmsen *et al.*, 2002). Inside each cell of an active bacterium, there can be several thousand 16S

rRNA molecules. An equal number of probes can be attached to the 16S rRNA and the intensity of the signal can be correlated to the activity level of the bacterium (Binnerup *et al.*, 2001).

Aims of the thesis

The aims of the present thesis were to study the influence of

- PVTC-cannulation and oxytetracycline on
 - intestinal coliform populations in growing pigs.
- total dietary NSP content and NSP solubility on
 - digestibility of nutrient and fibre components,
 - digestion site and
 - gut environment

in piglets around weaning and in growing pigs.

- total dietary NSP content and NSP solubility on
 - intestinal microbial populations in growing pigs.
- enzyme supplementation in diets with different NSP content on
 - digestibility of nutrient and fibre components,
 - digestion site and
 - gut environment
 - in piglets around weaning.

Materials and methods

Animals and housing

All animals came from conventional Swedish herds free from diseases according to the A-list of the International Office of Epizootics (www.oie.int), and from Aujeszky's disease, atrophic rhinitis, *Brachyspira* spp transmissible gastroenteritis, porcine epidemic diarrhoea, porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome and salmonellosis.

Pure bred Swedish Yorkshire castrates, weaned at the age of five weeks and purchased at the age of 10-11 weeks, were studied in papers I, II and III. Crossbred Yorkshire x Landrace castrates, purchased before weaning at 27-28 days of age (live weight 8.9 ± 0.6 kg) were studied in IV. These animals were housed individually (I, II, III) or pair-wise (IV) at the experimental unit at the Department of Animal Nutrition and Management, Uppsala, Sweden.

In V, pure-bred Swedish Yorkshire litters from the research herd at Funbo-Lövsta Research Station were studied. A total of 20 entire litters were followed from the age of three weeks until they were nine weeks old. The piglets were weaned at the age of five weeks by removal of the sow from the pen.

The care and use of the animals included in these studies (I, II, III, IV, V) was examined and approved by the Board of Experimental Animal Ethics.

Diets

All diets were based on cereals and cereal by-products milled through a 3 mm mesh screen (II, III, IV, V). They were formulated to contain different levels of NSP. TiO_2 was used in all diets as a digesta flow marker at a rate of 2.5 g/kg feed. In both piglet trials (IV, V), 3 mm size pellets were available *ad lib*. The growing pigs were fed 5 mm sized pellets at 4% of the group mean live weight until they reached 70 kg. Thereafter they were given 2.8 kg feed per day (II, III).

The cereal part of the diets varied between 435-965 g/kg feed, and also the content of NSP differed between the diets (II, III, IV, V). The control diets included 139-147 g NSP/kg DM of which 0.687-0.727 was insoluble. Diets with high content of NSP included 160-203 g NSP/kg DM (II, III, IV, V). These diets were divided into diets with a normal amount of insoluble NSP (H; 0.705-0.706) and into diets with a large amount of insoluble NSP (Hi; 0.847-0.879) included (II, III, IV, V). These diets were also divided into diets with a normal amount of SP included 95-109 g NSP/kg DM (II, III, IV, V). These diets were also divided into diets with a normal amount of insoluble NSP (L; 0.674-0.726) and diets with a large amount of insoluble NSP (L; 0.798-0.804) included (II, III, V).

Experimental designs and sample collections

The growing pigs studied in **I**, **II** and **III** were surgically fitted with a PVTC cannula according to van Leeuwen *et al.* (1991). In **I**, microbial samples were collected with a cotton swab through the cannula and in the rectum during the surgery and on day 3, 7, 14 and 20 post surgery. In **II** and **III**, a 5 x 5 Latin square design was applied, including five pigs, five diets and five periods, each lasting for 17 days. Ileo-caecal digesta and faeces were collected on day 15 and 17 in each period (**II**). Ileo-caecal digesta as well as ileo-caecal and rectal samples collected with cotton swabs were collected at the start of the experiment and on days 9 and 17 in each period (**III**).

A split-litter design was applied in **IV**. There were 32 Y x L castrates originating from eight different litters included in the study. The piglets were 27-28 days old and the mean body weight (BW) was 8.9 ± 0.6 kg when initiated in the study. The four litter mates were distributed onto four different diets. The BW of the piglets was recorded on arrival and on day 3, 7, 10 and 14. Feed consumption was noted every day. On day 14, the piglets were sacrificed and samples were collected from different parts of the gastro-intestinal tract. At termination the piglets were aged 41 or 42 days and the mean BW was 11.6 ± 1.3 kg.

In V, a herd study was carried out, comprising 20 pure bred Yorkshire litters containing at least eight piglets. The litters were distributed onto five different diets. The piglets were followed from the age of 3 weeks until they were 9 weeks

old. All piglets were weighed individually at 3, 5, 6, 7 and 9 weeks of age, and feed consumption in each litter was noted three times a week. In each litter, one piglet was sacrificed the day before weaning at 5 weeks of age, one at 6 weeks of age and one at 7 weeks of age, and samples were taken from different parts of the gastro-intestinal tract.

Analyses

Chemical analysis

All samples were freeze-dried and milled through a 1-mm mesh screen before chemical analysis (**II**, **IV**, **V**). These analyses included DM, ash, TiO₂ (Short *et al.*, 1996), crude protein (CP) (Nordic Committee on Food Analysis, 1976), crude fat (Official Journal of the European Communities, 1984), starch and sugars (Larsson & Bengtsson, 1983), energy, total $(1\rightarrow3)(1\rightarrow4)$ -β-D-glucans and insoluble β-glucans (McCleary & Glennie-Holmes, 1985), total, soluble and insoluble NSP and their constituent sugars, Klason lignin and total DF (Bach Knudsen, 1997), organic acids (OA) (Andersson & Hedlund, 1983), viscosity and pH.

Terminal restriction fraction length polymorphism

In **III**, T-RFLP was used to define base pair length of microbial DNA in ileocaecal samples (Leser *et al.*, 2000). DNA fragments were analysed by electrophoresis on an automatic sequence analyser (ABI PRISM 373 DNA Sequencer, PE Biosystems, Foster City, Calif.). The lengths of the terminal restriction fragments (TRFs) were determined by comparison with the internal size standard using GeneScan software (PE Biosystems).

Biochemical fingerprinting

Biochemical fingerprinting was used to define the diversity of the intestinal coliform flora at the ileo-caecal ostium and in rectum (I, III). This method measures the kinetics of bacterial growth in eleven different liquid media, chosen to differentiate between coliforms (Kühn *et al.*, 1993). The individual metabolic response of 24 isolates from each sample was measured. Simpson's index of diversity (Hunter & Gaston, 1988) was used to measure the phenotypic diversity of the coliforms. When only one biochemical phenotype (BPT) is present, the diversity is considered to be low, with a minimum value of 0. In a population containing different BPTs, the diversity is considered to be high, with a maximum value of 1.

Results

Cereal chemical composition

The chemical composition of the cereals and cereal by-products included in the experimental diets is shown in Table 2. The content of nutrient and fibre

components varied among the ingredients as well as the ratio of soluble and insoluble fibre components.

Table 2. Chemical composition (g/kg DM) of cereals and cereal by-products included in the experimental diets presented as means from two* (papers II, III, V) or three (papers II, III, IV, V) batches

			Oat	Oat	Rye			Wheat
	Barley	Oats	meal*	bran*	bran*	Triticale	Wheat	bran
Crude protein	142	149	134	186	174	138	130	162
Fat	30	47	79	120	33	23	23	46
Starch ¹	572	404	659	467	178	650	702	193
Total B-glucan	55	33	40	108	44	8	6	24
Insoluble ß-glucan	14	5	12	59	24	3	2	16
Soluble ß-glucan	41	28	28	49	20	5	4	8
Total neutral sugars	160	202	85	198	291	147	100	346
Arabinose	26	23	11	25	74	39	26	95
Xylose	56	90	18	48	138	63	44	162
Glucose	69	79	49	115	61	33	21	74
Uronic acid	6	8	5	8	11	6	5	15
Klason lignin	33	59	10	45	70	27	21	85
Total NSP	185	251	93	199	309	170	102	392
Insoluble NSP	140	240	48	91	311	98	93	325
Soluble NSP	45	11	45	107	-2	72	9	67
Total dietary fibre	218	310	103	243	378	198	123	478
¹ Sum of starch and maltodextrins								

Sum of starch and maltodextrins.

Feed intake and daily weight gain

The average feed intake between 3-9 weeks was higher (P<0.05) in diet Li compared to the other diets in paper V. No difference (P>0.05) in feed intake was observed between the diets in paper IV.

The daily gain during the post-weaning period and over the total experimental period was higher (P<0.05) in diet Li than in diet L, H and the control diet (V). In paper IV, the high NSP content resulted in a higher (P<0.05) daily gain. In paper II, the daily gain of the pigs was higher (P<0.05) when fed the low NSP diets compared with the high NSP diets and the control diet.

Digestibility of nutrient components

The digestibility of OM and CP increased successively through the gastrointestinal tract in piglets and growing pigs (II, IV, V). The digestibility of starch was almost complete at the ileum and caecum (0.94-1.00) and was unaffected (P>0.05) by NSP content (**II**, **IV**, **V**), except during week 7, when diets Li, L and H showed higher (P<0.05) starch digestibility compared with the control diet (**V**).

The low NSP content resulted in higher (P<0.05) ileal and total tract digestibility of OM, energy (II and IV) and CP (II). In paper II, there was a linear decrease (P<0.05) in both ileal and total tract digestibility of OM, CP and energy with increasing dietary NSP content.

NSP solubility had no influence (P>0.05) on the ileal digestibility of nutrients, but the total tract digestibility of OM, fat and energy was increased (P<0.05) with higher levels of soluble NSP (II). Also the caecal digestibility of OM was increased (P<0.05) with higher levels of soluble NSP in 6- and 7-weeks old piglets, and in the total tract of 6-weeks old piglets fed diets with high NSP content. So was the caecal digestibility of CP in piglets aged 6 or 7 weeks and fed diets with high NSP content (V). The digestible energy was increased (P<0.05) with higher levels of soluble NSP in the 6-weeks old piglets (V). An overview of these results is presented in Table 3. Enzyme supplementation decreased (P<0.05) the digestibility of OM in the stomach, but no influence of enzyme supplementation was observed for the other nutrient components (IV).

1			()10	U	010(,	
	נ	NSP content	1	NSP solubility ²			
	W6	W7	Growing	W6	W7	Growing	
Ileum/Caecum							
Organic matter	L/H, Li/Hi	L/H, Li/Hi	L/H, Li/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	ns	
Crude protein	L/H	L/H	L/H, Li/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	H/Hi	ns	
Starch	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	
Total tract							
Organic matter	Li/Hi	L/H, Li/Hi	L/H, Li/Hi	H/Hi	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	
Crude protein	L/H	ns	L/H, Li/Hi	ns	ns	ns	
Energy	L/H, Li/Hi	L/H, Li/Hi	L/H, Li/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	

Table 3. Influence of NSP content and solubility on ileal, caecal and total tract digestibility of nutrient components in 6- and 7-weeks old (V) piglets and in growing pigs (II)

¹ Diet L compared with diet H, diet Li compared with diet Hi.

² Diet L compared with diet Li, diet H compared with diet Hi.

ns = not significant.

Significantly increased digestibility in the diets in bold (P<0.05).

Digestibility of fibre

The ileal digestibility of β -glucans was higher (P<0.05) in diet Hi than in the other diets (II), whereas the caecal digestibility of β -glucans was high (0.89-0.99) and unaffected (P>0.05) by NSP content (IV, V).

The ileal digestibility of total neutral sugars, arabinose, xylose, total NSP and DF was higher (P<0.05) for the high NSP diets compared with the control diet, but NSP solubility had no influence (P>0.05) on ileal digestibility of fibre components (II). In contrast, the caecal digestibility of total neutral sugars, xylose, glucose and total NSP was higher (P<0.05) in diet L than in diet Li and in diet H than in diet Hi, respectively, in the 6-weeks old piglets (V). Also during week 7, the caecal digestibility of total neutral sugars, arabinose, xylose, glucose, total NSP and total dietary fibre was higher (P<0.05) in diet L than in diet Li, whereas diet H showed higher (P<0.05) digestibility for total neutral sugars, glucose and total NSP compared with diet Hi (V).

	NSP content ¹			NSP solubility ²			
	W6	W7	Growing	W6	W7	Growing	
Ileum/Caecum							
Total neutral sugars	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	ns	
Arabinose	ns	ns	L/H, Li/Hi	L/Li	L/Li	ns	
Xylose	ns	L/H	L/H, Li/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li	ns	
Glucose	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	ns	
Uronic acid	ns	ns	ns	L/Li	ns	ns	
Total NSP	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	ns	
Total dietary fibre	ns	ns	ns	ns	L/Li	ns	
β-glucans	ns	ns	Li/Hi	ns	ns	H/Hi	
Total tract							
Total neutral sugars	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	
Arabinose	ns	ns	L/H	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	
Xylose	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	
Glucose	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	L/Li, H/Hi	
Uronic acid	ns	ns	Li/Hi	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	
Total NSP	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	
Total dietary fibre	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	L/Li, H/Hi	

Table 4. Influence of NSP content and solubility on ileal, caecal and total tract digestibility of fibre components in 6- and 7-weeks old (V) piglets and in growing pigs (II)

¹ Diet L compared with diet H, diet Li compared with diet Hi.

² Diet L compared with diet Li, diet H compared with diet Hi.

ns = not significant.

Significantly increased digestibility in the diets in bold (P<0.05).

Total NSP content had no influence (P>0.05) on the caecal digestibility of fibre components in the 6- or 7-weeks old piglets (V). These results are summarised in Table 4. In paper IV, the caecal digestibility of uronic acid was higher (P<0.05) when the NSP content was low. Otherwise, NSP content had no influence (P>0.05) on the caecal digestibility of fibre components. Enzyme supplementation increased (P<0.05) the digestibility of total neutral sugars and total NSP in the caecum (IV).

The total tract digestibility of total neutral sugars, arabinose, xylose, glucose, uronic acid, total NSP and DF was higher (P<0.05) in diet L than in diet Li and in diet H than in diet Hi, respectively, but NSP content had no influence (P>0.05) on the total tract digestibility of fibre components (II). Also the total tract digestibility of glucose during weeks 6 and 7 was higher (P<0.05) in diet L than in diet Li and in diet H than in diet Hi, respectively (V). Otherwise, the fibre components were unaffected by dietary NSP content and solubility in the total tract of piglets (IV, V).

Gut environment

NSP content and solubility as well as enzyme supplementation had no influence (P>0.05) on ileal viscosity (II, IV). Feeding pig diets with a high NSP content resulted in a lower (P<0.05) pH in the small intestine (II), as well as in the large intestine (IV), when compared with pigs offered diets with a low NSP content.

The content of total (OA) was highest (P<0.05) in ileal samples after feeding diets with a high NSP content (**IV**) and diet Hi (**II**). The total OA content and pH were linearly related in digesta from the ileum (R²=0.90, **II** and R²=0.70, **V**), the caecum (R²=0.57, **V**), and the colon (R²=0.83, **V**). The ileal proportion of lactic acid (of total OA) was higher (P<0.05) in pigs given the control diet (**II**) than in pigs offered the other diets. This was also found after feeding the diets with a high NSP content or adding enzymes (**IV**), and after feeding diet Hi in the 7-weeks old piglets (**V**).

Pigs offered low NSP diets showed a higher (P<0.05) proportion of acetic acid (of SCFA) in the ileum than the high NSP diets, while the reverse was true for propionic acid (**II**, **IV**). Diet Li induced a higher (P<0.05) proportion of acetic acid (of SCFA) in the ileum compared with diet Hi, and the reverse was true for propionic acid (**V**). The proportion of butyric acid (of SCFA) was higher (P<0.05) in the ileum, caecum and colon after feeding diets with a high NSP content (**IV**). Also diet Hi showed a higher (P<0.05) proportion of butyric acid (of SCFA) in the stomach of the 6-weeks old piglets and in the colon of the 7-weeks old piglets (**V**). Enzyme supplementation decreased (P<0.05) the proportion of acetic acid (of SCFA) in the ileum (**IV**).

Microbial populations

The coliform populations at the ileo-caecal ostium and rectum were not influenced by either the administration of oxytetracycline or the surgical insertion of a PVTC cannula at the ileo-caecal ostium (I). After feeding diets with different NSP content, the pattern of coliform diversity was influenced both at the ileo-caecal ostium and rectum (III). The high NSP content caused a decrease in ileo-caecal coliform diversity between day 0 and day 9, but on day 17 the diversity was restored. The low NSP content showed a minor influence on the coliform diversity at the ileo-caecal ostium during the first nine days, but then the diversity decreased until day 17. In the rectum, the influence of NSP content was less clear. However, an indication of solubility influence was found, since pigs fed diet L showed a higher (P<0.05) diversity compared with pigs offered diet L i on day 9. T-RFLP monitored the influence of different dietary NSP contents on the total gut microbial flora at the ileo-caecal ostium (III). A total of 118 different TRFs of between 34 and 672 base pairs in length were discovered. However, only 41 of these TRFs were found in at least three pigs fed the same diet and therefore considered characteristic. When the pigs had been fed a standard feed, there were seven TRFs present that subsequently disappeared after day 0, when introducing the experimental diets. Pigs fed diet H showed the highest number of characteristic TRFs whereas pigs offered the control diet and diet Hi showed the lowest number. The TRF with a length of 490 base pairs was always present, on day 0 as well as after feeding the experimental diets. Two unique TRFs of 298 and 408 base pairs in length were only demonstrated in pigs fed diets with a high content of NSP or the control diet, whereas the TRFs of 519 and 571 base pairs length were only recovered in pigs offered the low NSP diets.

Discussion

Cereal composition

There are differences in chemical composition between feed ingredients. Besides dissimilarities between cereals, the specific nutrient content of a cereal is also affected by genetic factors and environmental factors, such as growing region and season (Seerley, 1991; McCann *et al.*, 2003; Kim *et al.*, 2003). Consequently, if different studies offering similar feed are to be compared, the true quality of all diets must be known, emphasising the importance of chemical analysis. The analysed chemical composition of barley, oats, wheat and wheat bran included in the current experimental diets (Table 2) was similar to results obtained in previous analyses (Table 1) performed by Bach Knudsen (1997). Also oat meal (Table 2) was similar in composition to oat feed meal (Table 1).

In contrast, oat bran and rye bran (Table 2) differed in composition from oat hull meal and rye bran (Table 1), respectively. Probably, the proportion of different parts of the grain, cell wall and hull fractions in these cereal by-products differed, resulting in these variances in chemical composition (Bach Knudsen, 2001). Such variances in cereal composition are of importance for the dietary influence on digestibility, site of digestion, gut environment and microbial populations in the gastro-intestinal tract.

Dietary composition, digestibility and gut health

The present studies (II, IV, V) support earlier findings that an increased level of dietary fibre decreases the digestibility of OM and energy in pigs (Just, 1982; Noblet & Perez, 1993; Li, Sauer & Hardin, 1994; Pettersson, Lindberg & Thomke, 1997; Yin *et al.*, 2000a). Further, the reduction in digestibility of OM with increased NSP content ranged from -0.12 to -0.17 at the ileum and caecum, and from -0.06 to -0.09 at the colon and rectum of piglets. In the growing pigs, the corresponding magnitude of reduced digestibility was -0.13 at the ileum and -0.08 in faeces, representing the total tract. Thus, the NSP-induced reduction in OM

digestibility was twice as high in the small intestine as in the total tract, and the relation obtained between the two sampling sites was in agreement with earlier findings (Drochner, 1991).

An increased proportion of insoluble NSP decreased the digestibility of OM and fibre components in the small intestine in the newly weaned piglets (**V**) and in the total tract of the growing pigs (**II**). This is of importance because the most common intestinal disease in recently weaned pigs is PWD which is induced by a proliferation of pathogenic *E. coli* in the small intestine, and the most significant intestinal disorder in growing pigs is SD, which is induced by an infection with *B. hyodysenteriae* in the large intestine (Hampson, Pluske & Pethick, 2001).

The present results suggest that insoluble NSP decreases the amount of digestible substrate for the pig as well as for the microbes in the small intestine among newly weaned piglets and in the total tract among growing pigs. Since *E. coli* proliferates in the small intestine and *B. hyodysenteriae* in the large intestine this suggests that insoluble NSP may be beneficial for the pig by reducing the incidence and/or severity of PWD and swine dysentery by decreasing the substrate available for microbial growth.

Previously the proliferation of enterotoxigenic *E. coli* in newly weaned piglets (*McDonald et al.*, 1999, 2001), as well as the clinical expression of swine dysentery in growing pigs (Pluske *et al.*, 1996, 1998; Siba, Pethick & Hampson, 1996) have been reduced by highly digestible diets based on cooked white rice and animal protein. These results are in line with the studies presented here, because these authors actually decreased the amount of soluble NSP in their diets. Indeed, the amount of soluble NSP will also be decreased when the amount of insoluble NSP is increased, as was the case in the present studies (**II**, **V**).

In newly weaned piglets the total NSP content had no influence on the digestibility of fibre components, either in the small intestine or in the total tract (**IV**, **V**). Therefore, the total NSP content appears to be of minor importance to protect from PWD, but the proportion of insoluble NSP might be of significance, as also indicated by others (McDonald *et al.*, 1999, 2001).

The results obtained among growing pigs differed somewhat from those obtained among newly weaned piglets. Dietary NSP increased the digestibility of fibre components in the small intestine in growing pigs (II). This increase in digestibility after feeding diets with a high NSP content may be due to an increased microbial activity stimulated by suitable substrate for microbial growth. However, no differences in digestibility could be measured in faeces between growing pigs fed diets with different NSP content (II).

Still, the severity of SD has been decreased by diets with a low NSP content, based on cooked white rice and animal protein, (Pluske *et al.*, 1996; Siba, Pethick & Hampson, 1996), probably due to a decreased amount of fermentable substrates in the large intestine. However, other studies performed in Canada (Kirkwood *et al.*, 2000) and Denmark (Lindecrona *et al.*, 2003) have failed to repeat these successful results in preventing SD by decreasing the amount of fermentable substrate substrate entering the colon with similar diets.

Another approach has been to prevent clinical signs of *B. hyodysenteriae* with maize silage diets containing high levels of cellulose and hemicellulose (Prohászka & Lukács, 1984). These authors speculated that the increased amount of fermentable substrate in the colon increased the production of SCFA and lowered the pH. Possibly an unfavourable gut environment for *B. hyodysenteriae* was created, and thereby the pigs were protected from SD. Also Kirkwood *et al.* (2000) tried this approach, but failed in repeating the successful results with an increased amount of fermentable substrate in the colon.

Obviously it is not very easy to repeat SD studies with successful results, probably because other factors besides the diet also influence the development of SD. These include synergy with certain anaerobic bacteria, such as species of *Bacteroides* or *Fusobacteria* (Meyer, Simon & Byerly, 1975; Whipp *et al.*, 1979), and the composition and function of the enteric anaerobic microflora. Also a decreased diversity of the microflora is commonly seen in connection with diarrhoea (Kühn *et al.*, 1993; Katouli *et al.*, 1999). Thus the stability of the resident microflora is likely to influence the development of intestinal disease as well. Further, the enteric bacteria present in the gastro-intestinal tract of pigs might differ between pig populations. Also differences in environmental conditions and pig genotype might be of importance.

Gut environment

The intestinal viscosity was low and had a narrow range (1.3-2.3 cP) in the present studies (**II**, **IV**), corresponding to previous observations (Rainbird & Low, 1986; Johansen *et al.*, 1996; Thacker, Campbell & Scoles, 1999; Guerin *et al.*, 2001). Also the dietary viscosity was low and within a narrow range in the different diets (1.2-3.6 cP). Thus, neither the dietary content of soluble NSP nor enzyme supplementation influenced the intestinal viscosity (**II**, **IV**).

The content of OA as well as the pH level was altered by the dietary NSP content (**II**, **IV**, **V**). An increased production of OA caused a decrease in pH at the ileum, caecum and colon (**II**,**V**), and pH may therefore be used as an indicator of microbial activity at various sites in the gastro-intestinal tract. Also the mutual proportions of different organic acids were influenced by the diets, indicating an influence of diet on the intestinal microflora. For instance, the proportion of lactic acid and butyric acid increased when feeding diets with a high NSP level (**IV**) as well as in the diet where the NSP content was high and insoluble (**V**). Thus, lactic and butyric acid producing bacteria were probably promoted by these diets. Further, low levels of NSP increased the ileal proportion of acetic acid and decreased the proportion of propionic acid (**II**, **IV**). Thus, the gut environment was altered by the content and quality of the NSP in the feed.

Pigs fed the diets with a low NSP content showed signs of a decreased microbial activity at the ileum, indicated by a decreased production of OA and consequently a higher pH (II, IV). In the growing pigs (II), the ileal digestibility of fibre components was lower in the diets with a low NSP content than in the diets with a high NSP content, suggesting that a lower digestibility of fibre components could be responsible for this decrease in microbial activity. This statement is also

supported by a decreased coliform diversity after feeding diets with low NSP content (III). This pattern of coliform diversity found at the ileo-caecal ostium in the growing pigs suggests that less substrate for microbial growth was available when a low level of NSP was fed. Thus, digestibility should be interpreted as the sum of degradation by enzymatic and microbial processes. An increased digestibility implies more nutrients digested by the pig, but also more substrate available for microbial growth.

Microbial populations

The surgical insertion of a PVTC cannula did not influence the coliform flora (I), which is of importance because the cannulation technique provides possibilities to collect repeated intestinal samples for microbial studies in living animals. Previously, it has been shown that neither digestibility (Lindberg, 1997; Jansman *et al.*, 2001), health status nor gut function (Jacobson *et al.*, 2001) are affected by this method. Taken together, these observations suggest that results obtained from PVTC cannulated pigs truly reflect the intestinal conditions of intact animals.

The total microbial populations as well as the diversity of the coliforms were altered when diets with differing NSP content and solubility were introduced (III). Thus, dietary NSP content and solubility influenced the total microflora and the coliform populations at the ileo-caecal ostium as well as the coliform diversity at the rectum of pigs. This suggests that dietary NSP has a potential to be used as a tool to modify pig feed, aiming to prevent gastro-intestinal disorders. However, as already pointed out (Pluske *et al.*, 1998; Kirkwood *et al.*, 2000; Lindecrona *et al.*, 2003), more studies are needed to scrutinise the correlation between NSP and their effects on the intestinal microflora.

Further, the microflora needs a certain time to adjust to newly introduced diets. This was indicated by different coliform diversity patterns between days 0, 9 and 17 after introducing new diets, both at the ileo-caecal ostium and in the rectum (III). Similar results have previously been shown by others (Kühn *et al.*, 1993; Katouli *et al.*, 1995, 1997b, 1999). Taken together these findings emphasise the importance of giving pigs sufficient time to adapt to newly introduced feed before evaluating the influence of the diet on the intestinal microflora.

In the present study the diversity of the ileo-caecal coliform flora was restored 17 days after introducing the diets with a high NSP content (III), indicating that the microflora had adapted to the new feed at that time. This figure corresponds well to the period of about 14 days required to restore the high diversity of the faecal coliform microflora after the decrease in diversity induced by weaning in healthy piglets (Melin *et al.*, 2000).

Nonetheless, it was difficult to find a dietary related pattern in the rectal coliform flora after 17 days (III), possibly indicating that the microbial populations in the rectum had not yet adapted to the diets at that time. The denser microbial population in the rectum than at the ileum (Zoric *et al.*, 2002) may have contributed to the longer time required for adaptation after a dietary change. In this context it is of interest that lower total culture counts were observed in rectal samples 3 weeks after introducing a high-fibre diet with 50% alfalfa meal to pigs

(Varel *et al.*, 1982). After 8 weeks the total culture counts were similar to those before introducing the alfalfa diet, suggesting a time period of 8 weeks required for the microbial adaptation for that diet. However, the dietary composition is certainly of importance for the time needed for microbial adaptation after introduction (Katouli *et al.*, 1997b, 1999; Melin *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, it is important to consider the relevant time required for adaptation when feed compositions are to be evaluated.

Possible influence of NSP on microbial populations

Inclusion of dietary fibre will shift the enzymatic digestion of α -glycosidic linkages in the small intestine to microbial fermentation of β-glycosidic linkages in the large intestine (Chesson, 1987; Bach Knudsen & Hansen, 1991). Further, a large amount of soluble fibre indicates an often completely degraded, easily digestible and available fibre composition, whereas a large amount of insoluble fibre indicates a fibre composition with low digestibility, only partly degraded by time-consuming fermentation (Bach Knudsen & Jørgensen, 2001). Depending on the source of dietary fibre included, it will influence the site of digestion as well as the gut environment (**II**, **IV**, **V**), and thereby also the conditions for proliferation of microbial populations in the gastro-intestinal tract (**III**).

In theory, the dietary content of total and soluble NSP can give four separately specified combinations, a high NSP content with a large amount of soluble NSP, a high NSP content with a large amount of insoluble NSP, a low NSP content with a large amount of soluble NSP and a low amount of NSP with a large amount of insoluble NSP. These four theoretically clear-cut combinations are likely to influence the intestinal microbial populations in different ways, although the microbial density remains unchanged (Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993a-b). A summary of the possible ways NSP may influence microbial populations is given in Table 5.

Table 5.	Overview	of possible	ways o	f influence	on	microbial	diversity	and	density
depending	g on the sou	urce of ferme	ntable su	ıbstrate avai	labl	e			

	NSP o	content	NSP solubility			
	Low	High	Soluble	Insoluble		
Microbial diversity	-	+	+	-		
Microbial activity	-	+	-	+		

A diet with a high NSP content and a large amount of soluble NSP is likely to promote microbial growth, as indicated in the ileo-caecal coliform diversity pattern as well as in the increased number of TRFs in diet H (III). There is plenty of substrate present for microbial fermentation in the intestine (Bach Knudsen & Hansen, 1991; Bach Knudsen *et al.*, 1991). Moreover, it is easy to ferment in a relatively short time. This type of diet is likely to function as a general substrate for microbial growth, and thereby encourage many different microbes, resulting in high diversity and activity among the resident microflora. But also transient

microbes may easily find a suitable substrate for growth. Hence the colonisation resistance against transient microbes probably depends on competitive exclusion for substrate as well as suitable proliferation sites, through a dense and stable resident flora with high diversity.

A diet with a high NSP content and a large amount of insoluble NSP provides plenty of substrate (Bach Knudsen *et al.*, 1991), but it is difficult and timeconsuming to ferment (Bach Knudsen & Hansen, 1991). Further, the passage rate through the gut is increased by this kind of diet (Kass, van Soest & Pond, 1980; Bach Knudsen, 2001). Therefore it is likely that the microbes capable of fermenting this kind of diet need to be specialised, resulting in a decreased diversity of the resident flora. In the present study, this was indicated by a somewhat lower ileo-caecal coliform diversity and a lower number of TRFs present in diet Hi than in diet H (III). Still, the slow fermentation process encourages the growth of resident microbes, since transient microbes simply do not manage to proliferate on this substrate before they are washed away by the peristaltic movements. Thus the colonisation resistance against transient microbes depends on rather specialised resident bacteria proliferating the best sites in the gastro-intestinal tract.

A diet with a low NSP content and a large amount of soluble NSP provides a limited but highly fermentable substrate for microbial growth, easy to ferment in a relatively short time (Bach Knudsen & Jensen, 1991). Further, the passage rate through the proximal gastro-intestinal tract is decreased by this kind of diet (Bach Knudsen & Hansen, 1991; Glitsø *et al.*, 1998), giving transient microbes more time for possible proliferation. Thus, the growths of both resident and transient microbes are probably promoted on this substrate. However, the diversity as well as the activity of the resident flora may be decreased due to the limited amount of substrate, as indicated by the decrease in ileo-caecal coliform diversity pattern in diet L (III). Thus, the colonisation resistance against transient microbes relies on competitive exclusion for substrate.

A diet with a low NSP content and a large amount of insoluble NSP provides a limited and difficult substrate for microbial growth, that is time-consuming to ferment (Bach Knudsen, Jensen & Hansen, 1993b; Noblet & Bach Knudsen, 1997). Therefore, it is likely that the microbes capable of fermenting this kind of diet needs to be specialised, probably resulting in a decreased diversity of the resident flora, as indicated by the decrease in ileo-caecal coliform diversity pattern in diet Li (III). Thus, this diet provides colonisation resistance against transient microbes, both through competitive exclusion for the limited amount of substrate and by encouraging a specialised resident microflora.

Conclusions

- The surgical insertion of a PVTC cannula did not influence the coliform flora, and samples collected through the cannula were concluded to reflect true intestinal conditions of intact animals.
- The total microbial populations as well as the diversity of the coliforms were altered by different NSP content and NSP solubility. Also, it was shown that the enteric microflora needs a certain time for adaptation to newly introduced diets.
- An increased content of dietary NSP decreased the digestibility of OM and energy. Further, the NSP induced reduction in OM digestibility was twice as high in the small intestine as in the total tract.
- An increased amount of insoluble NSP decreased the digestibility of OM and fibre components in the small intestine of the newly weaned piglets and in the total tract of the growing pigs.
- The gut environment, as described by pH and content and proportions of organic acids, was altered by dietary NSP content and NSP solubility.
- Altogether, dietary NSP content and NSP solubility influenced digestibility, digestion site and gut environment in piglets around weaning and in growing pigs. Also the enteric microbial populations in growing pigs were influenced by NSP content and NSP solubility. Therefore, it is concluded that dietary NSP and NSP solubility can be used as a tool to promote gut health in weaning piglets as well as in growing pigs.

Sammanfattning

Avhandlingen är baserad på tre studier som omfattar både avvänjnings- och tillväxtperioden hos grisar, och avser att beskriva inverkan av icke-stärkelse polysackarider (NSP) från spannmål och tillsats av enzymer i foder på processer i mag-tarmkanalen. Spannmål och spannmålsbiprodukter användes för att ge fodren olika innehåll av totala såväl som lösliga NSP. Resultaten visade att både hos nyligen avvanda smågrisar och hos växande grisar medförde ett ökat innehåll av NSP i fodret en dubbelt så stor minskning av smältbarheten av organisk substans i tunntarmen jämfört med grovtarmen. En ökad andel olösliga NSP i fodret minskade smältbarheten av organisk substans och fiberkomponenter i tunntarmen hos nyligen avvanda smågrisar och i grovtarmen hos växande grisar. Fodrets innehåll av totala och lösliga NSP påverkade tarmmiljön i form av ändrade mängder och andelar av organiska syror samt ändrade pH-värden. Även de totala mikrobiella populationerna och den koliforma diversiteten påverkades av fodrets innehåll av totala och lösliga NSP. Tillsats av enzymer i fodret påverkade andelen organiska syror i tunntarmen. Den koliforma floran var oförändrad när växande grisar försågs med en PVTC fistel i blindtarmen, vilket visar att prover tagna från PVTC fistulerade grisar är jämförbara med prover tagna från intakta grisar. Sammanfattningsvis antyder resultaten att fodrets innehåll av totala och lösliga NSP påverkar processer i mag-tarmkanalen såsom smältbarhet, tarmmiljö och mikrobiella populationer på olika sätt hos nyligen avvanda och växande grisar. Därmed utgör fodrets innehåll av NSP ett viktigt verktyg som kan användas för att förändra digestionsprocesser och tarmmiljö med möjligheter att påverka tarmhälsan hos grisar av olika åldrar.

References

- Allison, M.J. 1989. Characterization of the Flora of the Large Bowel of Pigs: A Status Report. *Animal feed science and technology 23*, 79-90.
- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W. & Shleiffer, K.-H. 1995. Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiological reviews* 59, 143-169.
- Andersson, R. & Hedlund, B. 1983. HPLC analysis of organic acids in lactic acid fermented vegetables. Zeitschrift f
 ür Lebensmittel Untersuchung und Forschung 176, 440-443.
- Andersson, C. & Lindberg, J.E. 1997. Forages in diets for growing pigs. 2. Nutrient apparent digestibilities and partition of nutrient digestion in barley-based diets including red-clover and perennial ryegrass meal. *Animal science* 65, 493-500.
- Argenzio, R.A. 1993a. Digestion, absorption, and metabolism. In: *Dukes' physiology of domestic animals*, Eds: Swenson, M.J. & Reece, W.O. Cornell University Press. Ithaca. pp. 325-335.
- Argenzio, R.A. 1993b. Gastrointestinal motility. In: Dukes' physiology of domestic animals, Eds: Swenson, M.J. & Reece, W.O. Cornell University Press. Ithaca. pp. 336-348.
- Argenzio, R.A. 1993c. Secretory functions of the gastrointestinal tract. In: *Dukes' physiology of domestic animals*, Eds: Swenson, M.J. & Reece, W.O. Cornell University Press. Ithaca. pp. 349-361.
- Argenzio, R.A. 1993d. Digestion and absorption of carbohydrate, fat, and protein. In: *Dukes' physiology of domestic animals*, Eds: Swenson, M.J. & Reece, W.O. Cornell University Press. Ithaca. pp. 362-375.
- Asplund, K., Hakkinen, M., Björkroth, J., Nuotio, L. & Nurmi, E. 1996. Inhibition of the growth of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3 by the microflora of porcine caecum and ileum in an *in vitro* model. *Journal of applied bacteriology* 81, 217-222.
- Aumaitre, A. & Corring, T. 1978. Development of digestive enzymes in the piglet from birth to 8 weeks. II. Intestine and intestinal disaccharides. *Nutrition and metabolism 22*, 244-255.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E. 1997. Carbohydrate and lignin contents of plant materials used in animal feeding. *Animal feed science and technology* 67, 319-338.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E. 2001. The nutritional significance of "dietary fibre" analysis. *Animal feed science and technology 90*, 3-20.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E. & Hansen, I. 1991. Gastrointestinal implications in pigs of wheat and oat fractions. 1. Digestibility and bulking properties of polysaccharides and other major constituents. *British journal of nutrition 65*, 217-232.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E. & Jensen, B.B. 1991. Effect of source and level of dietary fibre on microbial fermentation in the large intestine of pigs. *EAAP publication 54*, 389-394.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E. & Jørgensen, H. 2001. Intestinal degradation of dietary carbohydrates - from birth to maturity. In: *Digestive physiology of pigs*, Eds: Lindberg, J.E. & Ogle, B. CABI publishing. Wallingford. pp. 109-120.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E., Jensen, B.B. & Hansen, I. 1993a. Digestion of polysaccharides and other major components in the small and large intestine of pigs fed on diets consisting of oat fractions rich in β-D-glucan. *British journal of nutrition* 70, 537-556.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E., Jensen, B.B. & Hansen, I. 1993b. Oat bran but not a β -glucanenriched oat fraction enhances butyrate production in the large intestine of pigs. *Journal of nutrition 123*, 1235-1247.
- Bach Knudsen, K.E., Jensen, B.B., Andersen, J.O. & Hansen, I. 1991. Gastrointestinal implications in pigs of wheat and oat fractions. 2. Microbial activity in the gastrointestinal tract. *British journal of nutrition 65*, 233-248.
- Bailey, M., Vega-Lopez, M.A., Rothkötter, H.-J., Haverson, K., Bland, P.W., Miller, B.G. & Stokes, C.R. 2001. Enteric immunity and gut health. In: *The weaner pig. Nutrition and management*, Eds: Varley, M.A. & Wiseman, J. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 207-222.

- Bedford, M.R. 1993. Mode of action of feed enzymes. *Journal of applied poultry research* 2, 85-92.
- Bedford, M.R. 1995. Mechanism of action and potential environmental benefits from the use of feed enzymes. *Animal feed science and technology* 53, 145-155.
- Bertschinger, H.U., Eggenberger, E., Jucker, H. & Pfirter, H.P. 1978/1979. Evaluation of low nutrient, high fibre diets for the prevention of porcine *Escherichia coli* enterotoxaemia. *Veterinary microbiology* 3, 218-290.
- Bhat, M.K. & Hazlewood, G.P. 2001. Enzymology and other characteristics of cellulases and xylanases. In: *Enzymes in farm animal nutrition*, Eds: Bedford, M.R. & Partridge, G.G. CAB International. Wallingford. pp. 11-60.
- Binnerup, S.J., Bloem, J., Hansen, B.M., Wolters, W., Veninga, M. & Hansen, M. 2001. Ribosomal RNA content in microcolony forming soil bacteria measured by quantitative 16S rRNA hybridization and image analysis. *FEMS microbiology ecology* 37, 231-237.
- Bjergegaard, C., Sørensen, H. & Sørensen, S. 1997. Dietary fibres -important parts of high quality food and feeds. *Journal of animal and feed sciences 6*, 145-161.
- Bolduan, G., Jung, H., Schnabel, E. & Schneider, R. 1988. Recent advances in the nutrition of weaner piglets. *Pig news and information 9*, 381-385.
- Brunsgaard, G. 1998. Effects of cereal type and feed particle size on morphological characteristics, epithelial cell proliferation, and lectin binding patterns in the large intestine of pigs. *Journal of animal science* 76, 2787-2798.
- Campbell, G.L. & Bedford, M.R. 1992. Enzyme applications for monogastric feeds: A review. *Canadian journal of animal science* 72, 449-466.
- Carlier, L.A., Cottyn, B.G. & Aerts, J.V. 1976. Apparent and true digestibility of the Weende components, cell content and cell wall of ryegrass. *Animal feed science and Technology 1*, 607-617.
- Chabeauti, E., Noblet, J. & Carré, B. 1991. Digestion of plant cell walls from four different sources in growing pigs. *Animal feed science and technology 32*, 207-213.
- Chesson, A. 1987. Supplementary enzymes to improve the utilization of pig and poultry diets. In: *Recent advances in animal nutrition*, Eds: Haresign, W. & Cole, D.J.A. Butterworts. London. pp. 71-89.
- Chesson, A. 1993. Feed enzymes. Animal feed science and technology 45, 65-79.
- Church, D.C. & Pond, W.G. 1982. Carbohydrates. In: Basic animal nutrition and feeding. Second edition, Eds: Church, D.C. & Pond, W.G. John Wiley & sons Inc. USA. pp. 84-96.
- Clark, L.K., Scheidt, A.B., Armstrong, C.H., Knox, K. & Mayrose, V.B. 1991. The effect of all-in/all-out management on pigs from a herd with enzootic pneumonia. *Veterinary medicine* 946-951.
- Clement, B.G., Kehl, L.E., DeBord, K.L. & Kitts, C.L. 1998. Terminal restriction fragment patterns (TRFPs), a rapid, PCR-based method for the comparison of complex bacterial communities. *Journal of microbiological methods 31*, 135-142.
- Conway, P.L. 1994. Function and regulation of the gastrointestinal microbiota of the pig. *EAAP publication 2*, 231-240.
- Corring, T., Aumaitre, A. & Durand, G. 1978. Development of digestive enzymes in the piglet from birth to 8 weeks. I. Pancreas and pancreatic enzymes. *Nutrition and metabolism* 22, 231-243.
- Dierick, N., Vervaeke, I., Decuypere, J. & Henderickx, H.K. 1983. Effects of the nature and level of crude fibre on apparent ileal and faecal digestibility of dry matter, protein and amino acis on nitrogen retention in pigs. *Revue de l'Agriculture (Brussels) 36*, 1691-1712.
- Dierick, N.A. & Decuypere, J.A. 1994. Enzymes and growth in pigs. In: *Principles of pig science*, Eds: Cole, D.J.A., Wiseman, J. & Varley, M.A. Nottingham University Press. pp. 169-195.
- Drochner, W. 1991. Digestion of carbohydrates in the pig. EAAP publication 54, 367-388.
- Drochner, W. 1993. Digestion of carbohydrates in the pig. *Archives of animal nutrition 43*, 95-116.
- Englyst, H.N. & Cummings, J.H. 1987. Digestion of polysaccharides of potato in the small intestine of man. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 45, 423-431.

- Englyst, H.N., Quigley, M.E. & Hudson, G.J. 1994. Determination of dietary fibre as nonstarch polysaccharides with gas-liquid chromatographic, high-performance liquid chromatographic or spectrophotometric measurement of constituent sugars. *Analyst 119*, 1497-1509.
- Ewing, W.N. & Cole, D.J.A. 1994. Micro-flora of the gastro-intestinal tract. In: *The living gut. An introduction to micro-organisms in nutrition*, Context. N.Ireland. pp. 45-65.
- Fonty, G. & Gouet, P. 1989. Fibre-degrading microorganisms in the monogastric digestive tract. *Animal feed science and technology 23*, 91-107.
- Fuller, M.F. 1991. Methodologies for the measurement of digestion. In: *Proceedings of the* V^{th} international symposium on digestive physiology in pigs, Eds: Verstegen, M.V.A., Huisman, J. & den Hartog, L.A. EAAP publication No. 54. Pudoc, Wageningen. pp. 273-288.
- Gabert, V.M., Sauer, W.C., Mosenthin, R., Schmitz, M. & Ahrens, F. 1995. The effect of oligosaccharides and lactitol on the ileal digestibilities of amino acids, monosaccharides and bacterial populations and metabolites in the small intestine of weanling pigs. *Canadian journal of animal science* 75, 99-107.
- Gallant, D.J., Bouchet, B., Buléon, A. & Pérez, S. 1992. Physical characteristics of starch granules and susceptibility to enzymatic degradation. *European journal of clinical nutrition* 46, S3-S16.
- Gdala, J., Johansen, H.N., Bach Knudsen, K.E., Knap, I.E., Wagner, P. & Jørgensen, O.B. 1997. The digestibility of carbohydrates, protein and fat in the small and large intestine of piglets fed non-supplemented and enzyme supplemented diets. *Animal feed science and technology* 65, 15-33.
- Gibbons, R.J. & van Houte, J. 1971. Selective bacterial adherence to oral epithelial surfaces and its role as an ecological determinant. *Infection and immunity* 3, 567-573.
- Glitsø, L.V., Brunsgaard, G., Højsgaard, S., Sandström, B. & Bach Knudsen, K.E. 1998. Intestinal degradation in pigs of rye dietary fibre with different structural characteristics. *British journal of nutrition 80*, 457-468.
- Graham, H., Hesselman, K., Jonsson, E. & Åman, P. 1986. Influence of β-glucanase supplementation on digestion of a barley-based diet in the pig gastrointestinal tract. *Nutrition reports international 34*, 1089-1096.
- Graham, H., Hesselman, K. & Åman, P. 1986. The influence of wheat bran and sugar-beet pulp on the digestibility of dietary components in a cereal-based pig diet. *Journal of nutriton* 116, 242-251.
- Guenter, W. 1993. Impact of feed enzymes on nutrient utilization of ingredients in growing poultry. *Journal of applied poultry research 2*, 82-84.
- Guerin, S., Ramonet, Y., LeCloarec, J., Meunier-Salaün, M.C., Bourguet, P. & Malbert, C.H. 2001. Changes in intragastric meal distribution are better predictors of gastric emptying rate in conscious pigs than are meal viscosity or dietary fibre concentration. *British journal of nutrition 85*, 343-350.
- Hampson, D.J. 1986a. Alterations in piglet small intestinal structure at weaning. *Research in veterinary science* 40, 32-40.
- Hampson, D.J. 1986b. Attempts to modify changes in the piglet small intestine after weaning. *Research in veterinary science* 40, 313-317.
- Hampson, D.J. & Kidder, D.E. 1986. Influence of creep feeding and weaning on brush border enzyme activities in the piglet small intestine. *Research in veterinary science 40*, 24-31.
- Hampson, D.J., Pluske, J.R. & Pethick, D.W. 2001. Dietary manipulation of enteric disease. In: *Digestive physiology of pigs*, Eds: Lindberg, J.E. & Ogle, B. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 247-258.
- Harmsen, H.J.M., Raangs, G.C., He, T., Degener, J.E. & Welling, G.W. 2002. Extensive set of 16S rRNA-based probes for detection of bacteria in human faeces. *Applied and environmental microbiology 68*, 2982-2990.
- Hunter, P.R. & Gaston, M.A. 1988. Numerical index of the discriminatory ability of typing systems: an application of Simpson's index of diversity. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 26, 2465-2466.

Iiyama, K., Lam, T.B.-T. & Stone, B.A. 1994. Covalent cross-links in the cell wall. *Plant Physiology 104*, 315-320.

- Jacobson, M., Lindberg, J.E., Lindberg, R., Hård af Segerstad, C., Wallgren, P., Fellström, C., Hultén, C. & Jensen-Waern, M. 2001. Intestinal cannulation: Model for study of the midgut of the pig. *Comparative medicine* 51, 163-170.
- Jansman, A.J.M., van Leeuwen, P., Beelen, G.M. & Verstegen, M.W.A. 2001. Effect of PVTC cannulation on ileal and faecal digestibility in growing pigs. In: *Digestive physiology of pigs*, Eds: Lindberg, J.E. & Ogle, B. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 335-337.
- Jensen, B.B. 1998. The impact of feed additives on the microbial ecology of the gut in young pigs. *Journal of animal and feed sciences* 7, 45-64.
- Jensen, B.B. 2001. Possible ways of modifying type and amount of products from microbial fermentation in the gut. In: *Gut environment of pigs*, Eds: Piva, A., Bach Knudsen, K.E. & Lindberg, J.E. Nottingham university press. Nottingham. pp. 181-200.
- Jensen, B.B. & Jørgensen, H. 1994. Effect of dietary fiber on microbial activity and microbial gas production in various regions of the gastrointestinal tract of pigs. *Applied* and environmental microbiology 1897-1904.
- Jensen, P. 1988. Maternal behaviour and mother-young interactions during lactation in freeranging domestic pigs. *Applied animal behaviour science 20*, 297-308.
- Johansen, H.N., Bach Knudsen, K.E., Sandström, B. & Skjöth, F. 1996. Effects of varying content of soluble dietary fibre from wheat flour and oat milling fractions on gastric emptying in pigs. *British journal of nutrition* 75, 339-351.
- Just, A. 1982. The influence of crude fibre from cereals on the net energy value of diets for growth in pigs. *Livestock production science* 9, 569-580.
- Just, A., Jørgensen, H. & Fernández, J.A. 1985. Correlations of protein deposited in growing female pigs to ileal and faecal digestible crude protein and amino acids. *Livestock production science 12*, 145-159.
- Jørgensen, H., Zhao, X.-Q. & Eggum, B.O. 1996. The influence of dietary fibre and environmental temperature on the development of the gastrointestinal tract, digestibility, degree of fermentation in the hind-gut and energy metabolism in pigs. *British journal of nutrition* 75, 365-378.
- Kass, M.L., Van Soest, P.J. & Pond, W.G. 1980. Utilization of dietary fiber alfalfa by growing swine. 2. Volatile fatty acid concentrations in and disappearance from the gastrointestinal tract. *Journal of animal science 50*, 192-197.
- Katouli, M., Foo, I., Kühn, I. & Möllby, R. 1997a. Evaluation of the Phene Plate generalized microplate for metabolic fingerprinting and for measuring fermentative capacity of mixed bacterial populations. *Journal of applied microbiology* 82, 511-518.
- Katouli, M., Lund, A., Wallgren, P., Kühn, I., Söderlind, O. & Möllby, R. 1995. Phenotypic characterization of intestinal *Escherichia coli* of pigs during suckling, postweaning, and fattening periods. *Applied and environmetal microbiology* 61, 778-783.
- Katouli, M., Lund, A., Wallgren, P., Kühn, I., Söderlind, O. & Möllby, R. 1997b. Metabolic fingerprinting and fermentative capacity of the intestinal flora of pigs during pre- and post-weaning periods. *Journal of applied microbiology* 83, 147-154.
- Katouli, M., Melin, L., Jensen-Waern, M., Wallgren, P. & Möllby, R. 1999. The effect of zinc oxide supplementation on the stability of the intestinal flora with special reference to composition of coliforms in weaned pigs. *Journal of applied microbiology* 87, 564-573.
- Kelly, D. & King, T.P. 2001. Digestive physiology and development in pigs. In: *The weaner pig. Nutrition and management*, Eds: Varley, M.A. & Wiseman, J. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 179-206.
- Kidder, D.E. & Manners, M.J. 1980. The level and distribution of carbohydrases in the small intestine mucosa of pigs from 3 weeks of age to maturity. *British journal of nutrition* 43, 141-153.
- Kim, J.C., Mullan, B.P., Simmins, P.H. & Pluske, J.R. 2003. Xylanase supplementation to increase DE content in wheat-based diets for weaner pigs is influenced by variety and growing region. In: *Proceedings of the 9th international symposium on digestive physiology in pigs*, Ed: Ball, R. O. University of Alberta. Edmonton. pp. 299-301.

- Kirkwood, R.N., Huang, S.X., McFall, M. & Aherne, F.X. 2000. Dietary factors do not influence the clinical expression of swine dysentery. *Swine health and production 8*, 73-76.
- Kühn, I., Franklin, A., Söderlind, O. & Möllby, R. 1985. Phenotypic variations among enterotoxinigenic *Escherichia coli* from Swedish piglets with diarrhoea. *Medical microbiology and immunology* 174, 119-130.
- Kühn, I., Katouli, M., Lund, A., Wallgren, P. & Möllby, R. 1993. Phenotypic diversity and stability of the intestinal coliform flora in piglets during the first 3 months of age. *Microbial ecology in health and disease*. *6*, 101-107.
- Larsson, K. & Bengtsson, S. 1983. Bestämning av lättillgängliga kolhydrater i växtmaterial. *Metodrapport nr 22.*
- Lee, S.C., Prosky, L. & De Vries, J.W. 1992. Determination of total, soluble, and insoluble dietary fiber in foods -enzymatic-gravimetric method, MES-TRIS buffer: collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC International* 75, 395-416.
- Leser, T.D., Lindecrona, R.H., Jensen, T.K., Jensen, B.B. & Möller, K. 2000. Changes in bacterial community structure in the colon of pigs fed different experimantal diets and after infection with *Brachyspira hyodysenteriae*. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 3290-3296.
- Li, S., Sauer, W.C. & Hardin, R.T. 1994. Effect on dietary fibre level on amino acid digestibility in young pigs. *Canadian journal of animal science* 74, 327-333.
- Lindberg, J.E. 1997. A comparison of the total tract digestibility in intact and PVTCcannulated pigs. In: *Digestive physiology in pigs. Proceedings of the VIIth international symposium, Saint Malo, France, May 26-28, 1997*, Eds: Laplace, J.P., Fevrier, C. & Barbeau, A. pp. 404-407.
- Lindecrona, R.H., Jensen, T.K., Jensen, B.B., Leser, T.D., Jiufeng, W. & Møller, K. 2003. The influence of diet on the development of swine dysentery upon experimental infection. *Animal science* 76, 81-87.
- Lindemann, M.D., Cornelius, S.G., El Kandelgy, S.M., Moser, R.L. & Pettigrew, J.E. 1986. Effect of age, weaning and diet on digestive enzyme levels in the piglet. *Journal of animal science* 62, 1298-1307.
- Longland, A.C., Carruthers, J. & Low, A.G. 1994. The ability of piglets 4 to 8 weeks old to digest and perform on diets containing two contrasting sources of non-starch polysaccharides. *Animal production* 58, 405-410.
- Maidak, B.L., Olsen, G.J., Larsen, N., Overbeek, R., McCaughey, J. & Woese, C.R. 1996. The ribosomal database project (RPD). *Nucleic acids research 24*, 82-85.
- Manners, M.J. & Stevens, J.A. 1972. Changes from birth to maturity in the pattern of distribution of lactase and sucrase activity in the mucosa of the small intestine of pigs. *British journal of nutrition 28*, 113-127.
- Mathew, A.G., Franklin, M.A., Upchurch, W.G. & Chattin, S.E. 1996. Influence of weaning age on ileal microflora and fermentation acids in young pigs. *Nutrition research* (*New York*) 16, 817-827.
- McCance, R.A. 1974. The effect of age on the weights and lengths of pigs' intestines. *Journal of anatomy 117*, 475-479.
- McCann, M.E.E., McCracken, K.J., McEvoy, J. & Simmins, P.H. 2003. The effect of wheat variety on nutritive value and performance of growing pigs. In: *Proceedings of the 9th international symposium on digestive physiology in pigs*, Ed: Ball, R.O. University of Alberta. Edmonton. pp. 367-369.
- McCleary, B.V. & Glennie-Holmes, M. 1985. Enzymic quantification of $(1\rightarrow 3)(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucan in barley and malt. *Journal of the institute of brewing 91*, 285-295.
- McCracken, B., Spurlock, M.E., Roos, M.A., Zuckermann, F.A. & Gaskins, H.R. 1999. Weaning anorexia may contribute to local inflammation in the piglet small intestine. *Journal of nutrition 129*, 613-619.
- McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh, J.F.D. & Morgan, C.A. 1995a. Carbohydrates. In: *Animal nutrition*, Eds: McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh, J.F.D. & Morgan, C.A. Longman Scientific & Technical. Essex. pp. 9-27.

- McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh, J.F.D. & Morgan, C.A. 1995b. Digestion. In: *Animal nutrition*, Eds: McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh, J.F.D. & Morgan, C.A. Longman Scientific & Technical. Essex. pp. 142-156.
- McDonald, D.E., Pethick, D.W., Pluske, J.R. & Hampson, D.J. 1999. Adverse effects of soluble non-starch polysaccharides (guar gum) on piglet growth and experimental colibacillosis immediately after weaning. *Research in veterinary science* 67, 245-250.
- McDonald, D.E., Pethick, D.W., Mullan, B.P., Pluske, J.R. & Hampson, D.J. 2001. Soluble non-starch polysaccharides from pearl barley exacerbate experimental postweaning colibacillosis. In: *Digestive physiology of pigs*, Eds: Lindberg, J.E. & Ogle, B. CABI publishing. Wallingford. pp. 280-282.
- Melin, L. 2001. Weaning of pigs with special focus on the intestinal health. Doctoral thesis. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Veterinaria. No 112. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Uppsala. Sweden. ISSN 1401-6257.
- Melin, L., Katouli, M., Lindberg, Å., Fossum, C. & Wallgren, P. 2000. Weaning of piglets. Effects of an exposure to a pathogenic strain of *Escherichia coli*. Journal of veterinary medicine. Series B 47, 1-13.
- Meyer, R.C., Simon, J. & Byerly, C.S. 1975. The etiology of swine dysentery. III. The role of selected gram-negative obligate anaerobes. *Veterinary pathology* 12, 46-54.
- Moughan, P.J. 2003. Amino acid digestibility and availability in foods and feedstuffs. In: *Proceedings of the 9th international symposium on digestive physiology in pigs*, Ed: Ball, R.O. University of Alberta. Edmonton. pp. 199-221.
- Muir, J.G., Young, G.P., O'Dea, K., Cameron-Smith, D., Brown, I.L. & Collier, G.R. 1993. Resistant starch - the neglected 'dietary fiber'? Implications for health. In: *Dietary Fibre Bibliography and Reviews*, Ed: Leeds, A.R. Smith-Gordon. London, UK. pp. 33-47.
- Mul, A.J. & Perry, F.G. 1994. The role of fructo-oligosaccharides in animal nutrition. In: *Recent advances in animal nutrition*, Eds: Garnsworthy, P.C. & Cole, D.J.A. Nottingham university press. Nottingham. pp. 57-79.
- Möllby, R., Kühn, I. & Katouli, M. 1993. Computerised biochemical fingerprinting -a new tool for typing of bacteria. *Reviews in medical microbiology* 4, 231-241.
- Noblet, J. & Perez, J.M. 1993. Prediction of digestibility of nutrients and energy values of pig diets from chemical analysis. *Journal of animal science* 71, 3389-3398.
- Noblet, J. & Bach Knudsen, K.E. 1997. Comparative digestibility of wheat, maize and sugar beet pulp non-starch polysaccharides in adult sows and growing pigs. *EAAP publication* 88, 571-574.
- Nordic Committee on Food Analysis 1976. Nitrogen. Determination in foods and feeds according to Kjeldahl, 3rd edn.
- Odensvik, K., Robertsson, J.Å. & Wallgren, P. 1999. In-feed medication of pigs with antimicrobial substances including zinc oxide with special reference to enteric disorders. *Svensk Veterinärtidning 51*, 293-299.
- Official Journal of the European Communities 1984. Determination of crude oils and fat. Method B.
- Partridge, G. 2001. The weaner pig enzymes and biotechnology for the future. In: *The weaner pig. Nutrition and management*, Eds: Varley, M.A. & Wiseman, J. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 123-152.
- Pettersson, D., Graham, H. & Åman, P. 1990. Enzyme supplementation of broiler chicken diets based on cereals with endosperm cell walls rich in arabinoxylans or mixed-linked ßglucans. *Animal production* 51, 201-207.
- Pettersson, Å., Lindberg, J.E. & Thomke, S. 1997. Nutritive value of oats of different composition evaluated by intact and fistulated pigs. Acta Agriculturæ Scandinavica, Section A, Animal Science 47, 247-253.
- Pierzynowski, S.G., Weström, B.R., Karlsson, B.W., Svendsen, J. & Nilsson, B. 1988. Pancreatic cannulation of young pigs for long-term study of exocrine pancreatic function. *Canadian journal of animal science* 68, 953-959.
- Pluske, J.R., Hampson, D.J. & Williams, I.H. 1997. Factors influencing the structure and function of the small intestine in the weaned pig: a review. *Livestock production science* 51, 215-236.

- Pluske, J.R., Durmic, Z., Pethick, D.W., Mullan, B.P. & Hampson, D.J. 1998. Confirmation of the role of rapidly fermentable carbohydrates in the expression of swine dysentery in pigs after experimental infection. *Journal of nutriton 128*, 1737-1744.
- Pluske, J.R., Kim, J.C., McDonald, D.E., Pethick, D.W. & Hampson, D.J. 2001. Non-starch polysaccharides in the diets of young weaned piglets. In: *The weaner pig. Nutrition and management*, Eds: Varley, M.A. & Wiseman, J. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 81-112.
- Pluske, J.R., Siba, P.M., Pethick, D.W., Durmic, Z., Mullan, B.P. & Hampson, D.J. 1996. The incidence of swine dysentery in pigs can be reduced by feeding diets that limit the amount of fermentable substrate entering the large intestine. *Journal of nutrition 126*, 2920-2933.
- Prohászka, L. & Baron, F. 1980. The predisposing role of high dietary protein supplies in enteropathogenic E. coli infections of weaned pigs. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin*. *Reihe B 27*, 222-232.
- Prohászka, L. & Lukács, K. 1984. Influence of the diet on the antibacterial effect of volatile fatty acids and on the development of swine dysentery. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin*. *Reihe B 31*, 779-785.
- Prosky, L., Asp, N.-G., Schweizer, T.F., DeVries, J.W. & Furda, I. 1988. Determination of insoluble, soluble, and total dietary fiber in foods and food products: interlaboratory study. *Journal of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists* 71, 1017-1023.
- Rainbird, A. & Low, A.G. 1986. Effect of various types of dietary fibre on gastric emptying in growing pigs. *British journal of nutrition 55*, 111-121.
- Read, N.W. & Eastwood, M.A. 1992. Gastro-intestinal physiology and function. In: *Dietary fibre -a component of food. Nutritional function in health and disease*, Eds: Schweizer, T.F. & Edwards, C.A. Springer-Verlag London Limited. London. pp. 103-117.
- Ribosomal Database Project II. Michigan state university, Michigan. http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/html/ (accessed 14-Aug-2003).
- Savage, D.C. 1989. The ecological digestive system and its colonisation. *Revue scientifique et technique des épizooties 8*, 259-273.
- Seerley, R.W. 1991. Major feedstuffs used in swine diets. In: *Swine nutrition*, Eds: Miller, E.R., Ullrey, D.E. & Lewis, A.J. Butterworth-Heinemann. Stoneham. pp. 451-481.
- Selvendran, R.R. 1984. The plant cell wall as a source of dietary fiber: chemistry and structure. *The American journal of clinical nutrition 39*, 320-337.
- Short, F.J., Gorton, P., Wiseman, J. & Boorman, K.N. 1996. Determination of titanium dioxide added as an inert marker in chicken digestibility studies. *Animal feed science and technology* 59, 215-221.
- Siba, P.M., Pethick, D.W. & Hampson, D.J. 1996. Pigs experimentally infected with *Serpulina hyodysenteriae* can be protected from developing swine dysentery by feeding them a highly digestible diet. *Epidemiology and infection 116*, 207-216.
- Souffrant, W.B. 2001. Effect of dietary fibre on ileal digestibility and endogenous nitrogen losses in the pig. *Animal feed science and technology 90*, 93-102.
- Stokes, C.R., Bailey, M. & Haverson, K. 2001. Development and function of the pig gastrointestinal immune system. In: *Digestive physiology of pigs*, Eds: Lindberg, J.E. & Ogle, B. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 59-66.
- Tannock, G.W. 1990. The microecology of lactobacilli inhabiting the gastrointestinal tract. *Advances in microbial ecology 11*, 147-171.
- Thacker, P.A., Campbell, G.L. & Scoles, G.J. 1999. Performance of young growing pigs (17-34 kg) fed rye-based diets selected for reduced viscosity. *Journal of animal and feed sciences* 8, 549-556.
- Theander, O., Westerlund, E. & Åman, P. 1993. Structure and components of dietary fiber. *Cereal foods world 38*, 135-141.
- Theander, O., Westerlund, E., Åman, P. & Graham, H. 1989. Plant cell walls and monogastric diets. *Animal feed science and technology 23*, 205-225.
- Theander, O., Åman, P., Westerlund, E. & Graham, H. 1994. Enzymatic/chemical analysis of dietary fiber. *Journal of AOAC international* 77, 703-709.
- Thomke, S. & Elwinger, K. 1998. Growth promotants in feeding pigs and poultry. III. Alternatives to antibiotic growth promotants. *Annales zootechnie* 47, 245-271.

- van Leeuwen, P., van Kleef, D.J., van Kempen, G.J.M., Huisman, J. & Verstegen, M.W.A. 1991. The post valve T-caecum cannulation technique in pigs applicated to determine the digestibility of amino acid in maize, groundnut and sunflower meal. *Journal of animal physiology and animal nutrition 65*, 183-193.
- van Soest, P.J. 1988. Fibre in the diet. In: *Comparative nutrition*, Eds: Blaxter, K. & Macdonald, I. John Libbey. London. pp. 215-225.
- van Soest, P.J. & Wine, R.H. 1967. Use of detergents in the analysis of fibrous feeds. IV. Determination of plant cell-wall constituents. *Journal of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists* 50, 50-55.
- van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B. & Lewis, B.A. 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *Journal of dairy science* 74, 3583-3597.
- Varel, V.H., Pond, W.G., Pekas, J.C. & Yen, J.T. 1982. Influence of high-fiber diet on bacterial populations in gastrointestinal tracts of obese- and lean-genotype pigs. *Applied* and environmental microbiology 44, 107-112.
- Wallgren, P., Sahlander, P., Hasslebäck, G. & Heldmer, E. 1993. Control of infections with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in swine herds by disrupting the chain of infection, disinfection of buildings and strategic medical treatment. *Journal of veterinary medicine*. *Series B 40*, 157-169.
- Wang, J.F., Jensen, B.B., Jørgensen, H., Li, D.F. & Lindberg, J.E. 2002. Ileal and total tract digestibility, and protein and fat balance in pigs fed rice with addition of potato starch, sugar beet pulp or wheat bran. *Animal feed science and technology 102*, 125-136.
- Wegener, H.C., Aarestrup, F.M., Jensen, L.B., Hammerum, A.M. & Bager, F. 1999. Use of antimicrobial growth promoters in food animals and *Enterococcus faecium* resistance to therapeutic antimicrobial drugs in Europe. *Emerging infectious diseases* 5, 329-335.
- Whipp, S.C., Robinson, I.M., Harris, D.L., Glock, R.D., Matthews, P.J. & Alexander, J.L. 1979. Pathogenic synergism between *Treponema hyodysenteriae* and other selected anaerobes in gnotobiotic pigs. *Infection and immunity* 26, 1042-1047.
- Wiseman, J., Pickard, J. & Zarkadas, L. 2001. Starch digestion in piglets. In: *The weaner pig. Nutrition and management*, Eds: Varley, M.A. & Wiseman, J. CABI Publishing. Wallingford. pp. 65-80.

Woese, C.R. 1987. Bacterial evolution. Microbiological reviews 221-271.

- Yin, Y.-L., McEvoy, J.D.G., Schulze, H., Hennig, U., Souffrant, W.-B. & McCracken, K.J. 2000a. Apparent digestibility (ileal and overall) of nutrients and endogenous nitrogen losses in growing pigs fed wheat (var. Soissons) or its by-products without or with xylanase supplementation. *Livestock production science 62*, 119-132.
- Yin, Y.-L., McEvoy, J.D.G., Schulze, H. & McCracken, K.J. 2000b. Studies on cannulation method and alternative indigestible markers and the effects of food enzyme supplementation in barley-based diets on ileal and overall apparent digestibility in growing pigs. *Animal science* 70, 63-72.
- Young, G.A., Underdahl, N.R., Sumption, L.J., Peo, E.R., Olsen, L.S., Kelley, G.W., Hudman, D.B., Caldwell, J.D. & Adams, C.H. 1959. Swine repopulation. 1. Performance within a "disease-free" experiment station herd. *Journal of the American veterinary medical association 134*, 491-496.
- Zoric, M., Arvidsson, A., Melin, L., Kühn, I., Lindberg, J.E. & Wallgren, P. 2002. Comparison between coliform populations at different sites of the intestinal tract of pigs. *Microbial ecology in health and disease 14*, 174-178.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all colleagues, friends and relatives, who have supported me during these years. Without your participation, this thesis would have been impossible to complete. I would like to give special thanks to:

Jan Erik Lindberg, my main supervisor, for trusting me to succeed with this project, and for sharing his knowledge of digestive physiology and nutrition in pigs. I am also thankful for the opportunity to teach in dog nutrition and keep my dogs at work.

Per Wallgren, my associate supervisor, for sharing his knowledge of pigs and microbes, for his support and enthusiasm and for all practical tips, not the least the "writing lessons".

Maria Neil, my associate supervisor, for sharing her knowledge of pigs, pig nutrition and PhD-education, and for her support.

Thomas Leser at the Danish Veterinary Institute in Copenhagen for the introduction and help with the T-RFLP analysis and for putting the laboratory facilities at my disposal during my visits.

Financial support to perform these studies was granted by the Swedish Meat Producing Farmers R&D Program. The Nordic network AFAC (Alternatives to Feed Antibiotics and Anticoccidials in Pig and Poultry Meat Production) is acknowledged for supporting participation in workshops and PhD-courses, and Sveriges grisproducenter (the Swedish Pig Producers' Research Foundation) and the department of Animal Nutrition and Management for financial travel support.

Bengt, "Becke", the expert on mixing ingredients when making experimental diets, the ultimate pig stable master and the true champion in milling feed and intestinal samples from pigs. You have indeed made my practical part of these studies a lot easier, always ready to lend both your hands and giving a useful advice.

Eva, Ulf and the technical staff at Lövsta research station for taking good care of the pigs and helping me with my piglet study.

Anna-Greta for excellent technical assistance in our laboratory. You have carried out a great deal of the work necessary to create these results from the almost endless number of samples and also helped me to solve the mysteries of viscosity and DNA extraction.

Sigbritt at the laboratory at SVA for helping me to culture and analyse numerous bacterial samples and for interesting horse-talk.

Börje, Barbro, Lena, Håkan and all others at the Kungsängen laboratory for helping me with numerous analyses.

Torbjörn for participating in my piglet study at Lövsta and for interesting scientific discussions and advice about education.

Brian for very quick revision of the English language in all my papers.

Nils for statistical advice. I am still baffled about your sincere interest and knowledge in SAS and statistics. Lucky me to find such a person!

Margareta R. for interesting discussions about animals, ethology, science, PhD-studies and teaching.

Hans P. for keeping my computer happy, Sigvard for interesting discussions about pig and dog nutrition and scientific work, and Margareta N., Seidy and Ulf for solving the every-day practical problems.

All former and present fellow PhD-students at the department for sharing both the highlights and the hard times of this work as well as your support and friendship during these years. Karin, Isabelle, Gunnar, Mikaela, Marie, Sigrid, Carina, Johan, Helena, Sara, Adrienne, Helena, Dalia, Daiga....

All friends who share my fascination and interest in dogs and dog-training at Uppsala Brukshundklubb and elsewhere. Especially Susanne H., Therese, Anna, Katarina and Sara, and my dogs' breeder, Susanne E., for friendship, constructive help in dog-training and for all good times we have shared!

Linda, Anna-Karin and Karin for your friendship and support through good and bad times during these years, and for just being there.

My yellow Labrador dogs, Kenzo and Ymer, for sharing my every-day life through thick and thin. Truly the best friends one could ever have.

My parents, Bo and Berit, and my brothers, Per and Jan for support, patience and love during these years.